
 

 

     Ffôn/Tel: 01656 643643                                                   Facs/Fax: 01656 668126          Ebost/Email: talktous@bridgend.gov.uk                                                                                  

     Negeseuon SMS/ SMS Messaging: 07581 157014           Twitter@bridgendCBC              Gwefan/Website: www.bridgend.gov.uk 

Cyfnewid testun: Rhowch 18001 o flaen unrhyw un o’n rhifau ffon ar gyfer y gwasanaeth trosglwyddo testun 

Text relay: Put 18001 before any of our phone numbers for the text relay service 

Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth yn y Gymraeg. Rhowch wybod i ni os yw eich dewis iaith yw’r Gymraeg  
We welcome correspondence in Welsh. Please let us know if your language choice is Welsh 

Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. 
Rhowch wybod i ni os mai Cymraeg yw eich 

dewis iaith. 
We welcome correspondence in Welsh. Please 
let us know if your language choice is Welsh. 

 

Cyfarwyddiaeth y Prif Weithredwr / Chief 
Executive’s Directorate  
Deialu uniongyrchol / Direct line /: 01656 643148 / 
643694 / 643513 
Gofynnwch am / Ask for:  Democratic Services/ 
Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
 
Ein cyf / Our ref:       
Eich cyf / Your ref:       
 
Dyddiad/Date: Dydd Mercher, 8 Mai 2024 

 

Annwyl Cynghorydd,  
 
CABINET 
 
Cynhelir Cyfarfod  Cabinet Hybrid yn Siambr y Cyngor - Swyddfeydd Dinesig, Stryd yr Angel, Pen-y-
bont ar Ogwr, CF31 4WB ar Dydd Mawrth, 14 Mai 2024 am 14:30. 
 
AGENDA 
 
1.  Ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb    

 Derbyn ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb gan Aelodau. 
 

2.  Datganiadau o fuddiant    
 Derbyn datganiadau o ddiddordeb personol a rhagfarnol (os o gwbl) gan Aelodau / 

Swyddogion yn unol â darpariaethau'r Cod Ymddygiad Aelodau a fabwysiadwyd gan y 
Cyngor o 1 Medi 2008.  
 

3.  Cymeradwyaeth Cofnodion   3 - 16 

 I dderbyn am gymeradwyaeth y Cofnodion cyfarfod y 12/03/2024 
 

4.  Canlyniad yr Ymgynghoriad ar Amcanion y Cynllun Cydraddoldeb Strategol 
Drafft 2024 - 2028  
 

17 - 52 

5.  Polisi Ffioedd a Thaliadau  
 

53 - 80 

6.  Adnewyddu Cytundeb Partneriaeth Gwasanaeth Archwilio Mewnol 
Rhanbarthol  
 

81 - 86 

7.  Cylch Gorchwyl y Cyngor Ymgynghorol Sefydlog ar Addysg Grefyddol 
(CYSAG)/Cyngor Ymgynghorol Sefydlog (Ar Werth a Moeseg Crefydd) (SAC)  
 

87 - 94 

8.  Newidiadau Arfaethedig Yng Ngofynion y Cyngor Mewn perthynas â 
Gwasanaethau Diwylliannol  
 

95 - 106 

9.  Dyddiadau Arfaethedig ar gyfer cyfarfodydd y Cabinet, Pwyllgor Cydraddoldeb 
y Cabinet a Rhianta Corfforaethol Pwyllgor y Cabinet  
 

107 - 110 

Public Document Pack

mailto:talktous@bridgend.gov.uk
http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


10.  Materion Brys    

 I ystyried unrhyw eitemau o fusnes y, oherwydd amgylchiadau arbennig y cadeirydd o'r farn 
y dylid eu hystyried yn y cyfarfod fel mater o frys yn unol â pharagraff 2.4 (e) o'r Rheolau 
Trefn y Cabinet yn y Cyfansoddiad. 
 

Nodyn:  Bydd hwn yn gyfarfod Hybrid a bydd Aelodau a Swyddogion mynychu trwy Siambr y 
Cyngor, Swyddfeydd Dinesig, Stryd yr Angel, Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr / o bell Trwy Timau Microsoft. 
Bydd y cyfarfod cael ei recordio i’w drosglwyddo drwy wefan y Cyngor.  Os oes gennych unrhyw 
gwestiwn am hyn, cysylltwch â cabinet_committee@bridgend.gov.uk neu ffoniwch 01656 643148 / 
643694 / 643513 / 643696 
 
Yn ddiffuant 
K Watson 
Prif Swyddog, Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol a Rheoleiddio, AD a Pholisi Corfforaethol 
 
Dosbarthiad: 
 
Cynghorwyr Cynghorwyr Cynghorwyr 
JC Spanswick 
N Farr 
W R Goode 

J Gebbie 
HJ David 
HM Williams 

JPD Blundell 



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 12 MAWRTH 2024 

 

COFNODION CYFARFOD Y CABINET A GYNHALIWYD AR FFURF HYBRID YN YSTAFELL BWYLLGOR 2 A 3 - Y SWYDDFEYDD 
DINESIG, STRYD YR ANGEL, PEN-Y-BONT AR OGWR, CF31 4WB AR DDYDD MAWRTH, 12 MAWRTH 2024 AM 14:30 
 
 

Yn bresennol 
 

Y Cynghorydd HJ David – Cadeirydd 
 
JC Spanswick N Farr W R Goode J Gebbie 
HM Williams J P D Blundell   

 
 

 
 
 
Swyddogion: 
 
Carys Lord Prif Swyddog - Cyllid, Perfformiad a Newid 
Claire Marchant Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Llesiant 
Janine Nightingale Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol - Cymunedau 
Kelley Watson Prif Swyddog - Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol, Adnoddau Dynol a Rheolaethol 
Julie Ellams Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd - Pwyllgorau 
Mark Shephard Prif Weithredwr 
Lindsay Harvey Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol Addysg a Chymorth i Deuluoedd 
Michael Pitman 
Anya Richards  
 

Swyddog Cymorth Technegol - Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
Rheolwr Grŵp Dros Dro Cyfathrebu a Materion Cyhoeddus 

 
Datganiadau o Fuddiant 
 
Cyhoeddodd y Cyng Neelo Farr ddatganiad o fuddiant yn eitem 13, Polisi Cludiant rhwng y Cartref a'r Ysgol/Coleg.  
 

301. Cymeradwyo Cofnodion 
 

 

Penderfyniad PENDERFYNWYD: Derbyn cofnodion y cyfarfod a gynhaliwyd 20/02/2024 fel rhai cywir. 

P
age 3

A
genda Item

 3



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 12 MAWRTH 2024 

 

 

Dyddiad y Penderfyniad 
 

12 Mawrth 2024 

 
302. Canlyniad yr Ymgynghoriad Drafft ar y Strategaeth Ymgysylltu a 

Chyfranogiad 
 

 

Penderfyniad 
 

Cyflwynodd y Prif Swyddog Cyllid, Tai a Newid adroddiad yn hysbysu'r Cabinet o ganlyniad yr 
ymgynghoriad drafft ar y Strategaeth Ymgysylltu a Chyfranogiad a chymeradwyo'r Strategaeth ar gyfer ei 
chyhoeddi. 
 
Eglurodd fod y nodau a nodir yn adran 3 yr adroddiad wedi eu datblygu i sicrhau bod ein trigolion a 
rhanddeiliaid allweddol eraill yn rhan o’r penderfyniadau strategol allweddol. Roedd canlyniadau’r 
ymgynghoriad llawn yn Atodiad A yr adroddiad.  
 
Gofynnodd yr Aelod Cabinet dros Ddiogelwch a Lles Cymunedol a oes gennym unrhyw ystadegau 
ynghylch faint o'r negeseuon e-bost cyfathrebu a agorwyd mewn perthynas â'r system e-bostio 
GovEDelivery. 
 
Gofynnodd yr Aelod Cabinet dros Ddiogelwch a Lles Cymunedol sut y rhannwyd gwybodaeth ynghylch y 
sesiynau ymgysylltu wyneb yn wyneb ymysg y cyhoedd, gan fod yr adroddiad yn nodi eu bod wedi eu 
hysbysebu ar y cyfryngau cymdeithasol, ond nad yw pawb yn defnyddio’r rhain. 
 
Eglurodd y Rheolwr Ymgynghori, Ymgysylltu a Chydraddoldebau fod y wybodaeth wedi ei hysbysebu ar y 
cyfryngau cymdeithasol ar gyfer y rhai sy'n eu defnyddio, ond i'r rhai nad ydynt yn eu defnyddio, roedd y 
wybodaeth wedi ei bwydo drwy Gynghorau Tref a Chymuned er mwyn iddyn nhw ei hysbysebu mewn 
cyfarfodydd lleol, ar wefannau a thrwy hysbysebu ffisegol. Yn anffodus roedd presenoldeb yn y sesiynau 
ymgysylltu wyneb yn wyneb yn isel, fodd bynnag roedd y sgyrsiau a gafwyd yn ystyrlon iawn. 
 
PENDERFYNWYD: Nododd y Cabinet ganlyniad yr ymgynghoriad a chymeradwywyd y Strategaeth 
Ymgysylltu a Chyfrannu sydd wedi ei hatodi fel Atodiad B yr adroddiad ar gyfer ei chyhoeddi 
 

Dyddiad y Penderfyniad 
 

12 Mawrth 2024 

 

P
age 4



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 12 MAWRTH 2024 

 

303. Datganiad Sefyllfa Tai a Digartrefedd 
 

 

Penderfyniad 
 

Cyflwynodd y Prif Swyddog Cyllid, Tai a Newid adroddiad oedd yn: 
 

 Diweddaru'r Cabinet ar y darnau allweddol o waith sy'n mynd rhagddynt i fynd i'r afael â'r straen ar 
wasanaethau tai a digartrefedd; 

 

 Ceisiwyd cymeradwyaeth y cyngor i gaffael eiddo o’r math amlfeddiannaeth (HMO) sydd o fewn 
amcangyfrifon cyfalaf y Cyngor sydd wedi'u cymeradwyo er mwyn darparu llety dros dro, yn amodol 
ar bob diwydrwydd dyladwy a chyngor cyfreithiol; 

 

 Ceisiwyd cymeradwyaeth y cyngor i atal y rhannau perthnasol o Reolau Gweithdrefn Contract y 
Cyngor (CPRS) mewn perthynas â'r gofynion tendro ar gyfer contract a dirprwyo awdurdod i 
Bennaeth Partneriaethau a Thai i gychwyn Cytundebau Lefel Gwasanaeth gyda darparwyr llety 
presennol am gyfnod o 'hyd at' 12 mis er mwyn parhau â'r ddarpariaeth llety dros dro ychwanegol 
fel sy'n angenrheidiol i fodloni dyletswyddau statudol y Cyngor. 
 

Darparodd y Prif Swyddog Cyllid, Tai a Newid gefndir yr adroddiad fel y nodir yn adran 2 yr adroddiad. 
Dywedodd fod costau llety dros dro yn syfrdanol, ac fe amlygir y rhain yn y tabl yn adran 2.7 yr adroddiad, 
sy'n dangos y cynydd flwyddyn ar ôl blwyddyn.  Dywedodd fod y Cabinet wedi cymeradwyo Cynllun 
Cefnogi Tai a Chynllun Gweithredu 2022-2026 ar 19 Rhagfyr 2023. Amlinellodd Adran 3 ddarnau allweddol 
o waith sy'n mynd rhagddynt i fodloni'r heriau mae Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr yn eu hwynebu. 
 
Nododd yr Aelod Cabinet dros Dai, Cynllunio ac Adfywio ein bod yn cydnabod bod digartrefedd yn 
argyfwng cenedlaethol a'i fod yn bwysig nodi gofynion Awdurdodau Lleol i ddarparu llety rhatach a gwell, 
ac nad yw Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr yn ddim gwahanol. 
 
Ategodd y Dirprwy Arweinydd y sylwadau hyn a nodi ei bod yn bwysig cymeradwyo'r adroddiad er mwyn 
sicrhau bod y perygl o bobl yn dod yn ddigartref yn cael ei liniaru. Gofynnodd beth ddigwyddodd yn 2018-
19 gan fod y costau yn sylweddol is y flwyddyn honno o'u cymharu â blynyddoedd eraill. Eglurodd y Prif 
Swyddog Cyllid, Tai a Newid fod nifer y bobl oedd yn gofyn am gymorth y flwyddyn honno wedi gostwng 
ers y flwyddyn flaenorol, roedd gwasanaethau eraill yn cael eu cynnig yn aml hefyd ac felly nid oedd angen 
llety dros dro ar nifer o bobl. Gwelwyd cynnydd sylweddol yn y blynyddoedd wedyn a hynny'n bennaf 
oherwydd pandemig COVID-19. 
 

P
age 5



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 12 MAWRTH 2024 

 

 
PENDERFYNWYD: Cabinet:  
 

 nodwyd cynnwys yr adroddiad;  
 

 cymeradwywyd caffael eiddo o’r math amlfeddiannaeth (HMO) oedd o fewn amcangyfrifon cyfalaf y 
Cyngor er mwyn darparu llety dros dro, yn amodol ar bob diwydrwydd dyladwy a chyngor 
cyfreithiol; 

 

 cytunwyd i atal y rhannau perthnasol o Reolau Gweithdrefn Contract y Cyngor (CPRS) mewn 
perthynas â'r gofynion tendro ar gyfer contract a dirprwyo awdurdod i Bennaeth Partneriaethau a 
Thai i gychwyn Cytundebau Lefel Gwasanaeth gyda darparwyr llety presennol am gyfnod o 'hyd at' 
12 mis er mwyn parhau â'r ddarpariaeth llety dros dro ychwanegol fel sy'n angenrheidiol i fodloni 
dyletswyddau statudol y Cyngor; 

 

 dirprwywyd awdurdod i’r Pennaeth Partneriaethau a Thai gymeradwyo telerau terfynol Cytundebau 
Lefel Gwasanaeth ar ran y Cyngor a threfnu bod y cytundebau’n cael eu gweithredu ar ran y 
Cyngor mewn ymgynghoriad â’r Prif Swyddog Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol a Rheoleiddio, AD a 
Pholisi Corfforaethol;  

 

 nodwyd y bydd adroddiad pellach yn cael ei gyflwyno i’r Cabinet i'w diweddaru ynghylch y sefyllfa 
llety dros dro. 

 

 gofynnwyd am gyflwyno adroddiad pellach i’r Cabinet ar y Grant Tai Cymdeithasol.    
 

Dyddiad y Penderfyniad 
 

12 Mawrth 2024 

 
304. Asesiad o’r Farchnad Dai Leol 2024 

 
 

Penderfyniad 
 

Cyflwynodd y Prif Swyddog Cyllid, Tai a Newid adroddiad, gan geisio cymeradwyaeth y Cyngor o’r Asesiad 
o’r Farchnad Dai Leol (LHMA) 2024 i’w chyflwyno i Lywodraeth Cymru. 
 
Eglurodd fod y LHMA wedi dadansoddi rhagolygon aelwydydd ochr yn ochr â data economaidd-
gymdeithasol, demograffeg a marchnad eiddo allweddol er mwyn cyfrifo amcangyfrif anghenion tai ar gyfer 

P
age 6



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 12 MAWRTH 2024 

 

Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr. Atodwyd y dadansoddiad yn Atodiad 1. 
 
Darparodd y Prif Swyddog Polisi Cynllunio Strategol gefndir yr Asesiad a’r data a gasglwyd. Eglurodd y 
bydd y wybodaeth yn cael ei defnyddio mewn modd diriaethol i lywio’r prosbectws Grant Tai Cymdeithasol 
a hefyd yr amrywiaeth o dai ar geisiadau cynllunio. Pwysleisiodd mai canllaw strategol oedd hwn i hybu’r 
ddarpariaeth o dai fforddiadwy, ond bydd angen i bob cynnig ystyried y cyd-destun lleol.  
 
Roedd yr Arweinydd yn falch o weld nad oedd angen i ni ddefnyddio ymgynghorwyr allanol a’n bod wedi 
dibynnu ar ein harbenigedd mewnol sydd wedi golygu bod y Cyngor yn arbed arian hefyd.  
 
Roedd yr Aelod Cabinet dros Dai, Cynllunio ac Adfywio yn croesawu’r adroddiad a diolchodd i’r 
Swyddogion am y gwaith caled a wnaed. Mae hwn yn ddarn pwysig o waith sy’n llywio’r penderfyniadau ar 
ddyfodol y farchnad dai a sicrhau ein bod yn gallu darparu tai lle mae eu hangen. Gofynnodd i’r adroddiad 
hwn fynd at y Bwrdd Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus a’r Bwrdd Partneriaeth Rhanbarthol i sicrhau bod ein holl 
bartneriaid yn cael mewnwelediad cynnar lle y bydd ardaloedd a chymunedau mwy o dai fel bod modd 
iddynt gynllunio ymlaen llaw’r hyn sydd angen iddynt ei ddarparu. 
 
PENDERFYNWYD: Cabinet:   

 cymeradwywyd yr LHMA 2024 (Atodiad 1 yr adroddiad) i’w gyflwyno i Lywodraeth Cymru. 

 gofynnwyd am ddiweddariad ar gynnydd y cyflwyniad, i’w gyflwyno mewn cyfarfod yn y 
dyfodol. 
 

Dyddiad y Penderfyniad 
 

12 Mawrth 2024 

305. Cyfraddau Annomestig Taliadau Disgresiwn: Cynllun Rhyddhad 
Ardrethi Manwerthu, Hamdden a Lletygarwch 2024-25 
 

 

Penderfyniad 
 

Cyflwynodd y Prif Swyddog Cyllid, Tai a Newid adroddiad, gan geisio cymeradwyaeth y Cyngor i 
fabwysiadu Cynllun Rhyddhad Ardrethi Manwerthu, Hamdden a Lletygarwch 2024-25 Llywodraeth Cymru. 
 
Eglurodd bod cyfanswm rhyddhad o £110,000 ar gael ar draws bob eiddo a feddiannir gan yr un busnes. 
Amcangyfrifir y bydd, oherwydd y cyfyngiad hwn, oddeutu 888 o drethdalwyr cymwys ledled y fwrdeistref a 
all elwa o dalu dim ond 40% o’u bil treth ar gyfer y flwyddyn ariannol 2024-25 dan y Cynllun hwn. Pe bai’r 
Cyngor yn mabwysiadu’r Cynllun, byddai ffurflenni cais ar gael ar wefan Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-
bont ar Ogwr i bob trethdalwr cymwys wneud cais. 

P
age 7



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 12 MAWRTH 2024 

 

 
Croesawodd yr Aelod Cabinet dros Gyllid, Adnoddau a'r Gyfraith yr adroddiad a nododd ei fod yn gynllun 
pwysig i fusnesau Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr. Pwysleisiodd, fodd bynnag, er mai Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-
bont ar Ogwr sy’n casglu’r ardrethi, Llywodraeth Cymru sy’n gosod yr ardrethi.  
 
Dywedodd yr Aelod Cabinet dros Addysg y gall fod sawl busnes ym Mhen-y-bont ar Ogwr nad ydynt yn 
ymwybodol eu bod yn gymwys ar gyfer y cynllun, na sut i wneud cais. Gofynnodd sut yr ydym yn bwriadu 
hyrwyddo hyn.  
 
Eglurodd y Prif Swyddog Cyllid, Tai a Newid fod y tîm cyfathrebu eisoes wedi eu hysbysu a’i fod yn barod i 
ddarparu’r wybodaeth hon ar wefan y Cyngor yn ogystal ag ar y cyfryngau cymdeithasol pe bai’n cael ei 
gymeradwyo. Byddai dolen i’r ffurflen gais ar gael o 1 Ebrill 2024, er mwyn i fusnesau ddechrau’r broses 
yn gynnar.  
 
Gofynnodd yr Aelod Cabinet dros Addysg a oedd yn bosibl i ni ysgrifennu at fusnesau i’w hysbysu ei fod ar 
gael. 
 
Nododd y Prif Swyddog Cyllid, Tai a Newid, unwaith y bydd y broses ymgeisio wedi mynd yn fyw, bydd 
disgwyl i nifer o fusnesau wneud cais am y cynllun. Pe na bai unrhyw ohebiaeth wedi ei dderbyn gan y 
busnesau disgwyliedig ar ôl cyfnod byr, byddwn yn gwneud gwaith dilynol bryd hynny. 
 
PENDERFYNWYD: Cymeradwyodd y Cabinet y Cynllun Rhyddhad Ardrethi Manwerthu, Hamdden a 
Lletygarwch 2024-25 fel y nodwyd yn Atodiad A yr adroddiad. 
 

Dyddiad y Penderfyniad 
 

12 Mawrth 2024 

 
 

306. Defnydd Arfaethedig o’r Protocol Trosglwyddo Trafodiad Tir gyda 
Phrifddinas Ranbarth Caerdydd ar gyfer Tir ym Mrynmenyn a 
Bryncethin 
 

 

Penderfyniad 
 

Cyflwynodd Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol dros Gymunedau adroddiad yn amlinellu’r defnydd arfaethedig o 
Gytundeb Opsiynau gyda’r Cynllun Prifddinas Ranbarth Caerdydd (CCR), dan y Protocol Trosglwyddo 
Trafodiad Tir. Pe cytunir ar hyn, bydd yn galluogi CCR i gael opsiwn i brynu tir dros ben sy’n perthyn i’r 

P
age 8



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 12 MAWRTH 2024 

 

awdurdod lleol ym Mrynmelyn a Bryncethin, yn unol â’r amodau a phrisiad tir llyfr coch. 
 
Nododd fod y cabinet wedi gwneud y penderfyniad anodd ym mis Medi 2023 i dynnu’n ôl o’r Prosiect 
Hydrogen HyBont Green gyda CCR, Llywodraeth Cymru a Marubeni Europower Limited (MEL). 
Digwyddodd hyn oherwydd Strategaeth Ariannol Tymor Canolig (MTFS) heriol y Cyngor a’i anallu i 
fodloni’r ymrwymiadau ariannol sylweddol oedd eu hangen i gwblhau diwydrwydd dyladwy, yn cynnwys yn 
ariannol, technegol a chyfreithiol a hefyd yr anallu i fodloni amserlen y prosiect. 
 
Eglurodd y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol dros Gymunedau, pe cytunir ar hyn, bydd yn galluogi CCR i gael yr 
opsiwn i brynu tir dros ben sy’n perthyn i’r awdurdod, yn unol â’r amodau a phrisiad tir llyfr coch cytunedig. 
Darparodd fanylion am y tir fel y gwelir yn adran 3 yr adroddiad.  
 
Croesawodd Aelod y Cabinet dros Newid Hinsawdd a’r Amgylchedd yr adroddiad ond pwysleisiwyd y 
pwynt fod hyn yn ymwneud â’r tir ei hun, a’i fod ar wahân i’r project HyBont a drafodwyd yn gynharach. 
Nododd, wrth mai cynnig i drosglwyddo perchnogaeth tir oedd hwn, roedd yn credu ei bod yn bwysig ei fod 
yn parhau i fod mewn perchnogaeth gyhoeddus ac er budd y cyhoedd. Pwysleisiodd bwynt 4 o’r 
argymhelliad, pe na bai’r tir yn cael ei ddefnyddio ar gyfer y project, y byddai’n cael ei roi’n ôl i’r Cyngor am 
y gwerth cytunedig y gwerthwyd ef. 
 
Gofynnodd a oedd yna amserlenni ynghylch pryd y byddai’r tir hwn yn cael ei roi’n ôl i ni pe na bai prosiect 
yn mynd rhagddo.  
 
Eglurodd Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol dros Gymunedau mai'r cynnig ar y cam hwn yw bod y CJC yn 
cyflwyno adroddiad eu hachos busnes llawn yn y cyfarfod ym mis Mehefin a byddai hyn yn rhoi’r 
wybodaeth am y cyllid cyfalaf sydd ar waith ar gyfer y cytundeb opsiwn tir, felly bydd hyn yn ein galluogi ni i 
lunio hyn yn unol â’r prisiad tir llyfr coch cytunedig. Gellir llunio’r opsiwn, ond bydd yn cael ei bennu, fodd 
bynnag, yn seiliedig ar gais cynllunio llwyddiannus sy’n broses statudol ar wahân.  
 
PENDERFYNWYD: fod y Cabinet yn:  
1. Nodi cynnwys yr adroddiad hwn a’r gofynion statudol ar gyfer caniatâd cynllunio a gwahanol 

drwyddedau, sydd y tu allan i’r Protocol Trosglwyddo Trafodiad Tir.  
2. Dirprwyo awdurdod i Gyfarwyddwr Corfforedig Cymunedau, mewn ymgynghoriad â’r Prif Swyddog 

Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol a Rheoleiddio, AD a Pholisi Corfforaethol a Phrif Swyddog Cyllid, Tai a Newid, 
i ddrafftio a chychwyn Cytundeb Opsiwn gyda CCR/CJC yn seiliedig ar yr egwyddorion a nodir yn yr 
adroddiad hwn, a chytuno ar brisiad y tir a’r amodau. 

P
age 9



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 12 MAWRTH 2024 

 

3. Cytuno bod unrhyw dderbyniad cyfalaf a dderbynnir gan y Cyngor, yn derbyn diogelwch wedi'i glustnodi 
hyd nes y daw’n glir bod y prosiect yn mynd rhagddo, er mwyn sicrhau bod arian ar gael pe bai’r tir yn 
cael ei roi’n ôl ym mherchnogaeth y Cyngor. 

4. Cytuno bod adroddiad dilynol yn dod yn ôl i’r Cabinet pe na bai’r prosiect neu Gytundeb Opsiwn yn 
mynd rhagddo, er mwyn i’r tir gael ei roi’n ôl i’r Cyngor am y gwerth cytunedig y gwerthwyd ef ac y gellir 
cytuno ar benderfyniad ynghylch dyfodol y ddwy lain o dir. 

 

Dyddiad y Penderfyniad 
 

12 Mawrth 2024 

 
 

307. Safonau Llyfrgelloedd Cyhoeddus Cymru 
 

 

Penderfyniad 
 

Cyflwynodd Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Llesiant adroddiad oedd yn dangos 
perfformiad y Cyngor yn erbyn chweched fframwaith Safonau Llyfrgelloedd Cyhoeddus Cymru (WPLS) ar 
gyfer y cyfnodau 2021-22 a 2022-23 i’r Cabinet. 
 
Eglurodd mai Atodiad 1 oedd adroddiad cryno 2021-22 a dderbyniwyd gan Lywodraeth Cymru 
er bod llyfrgelloedd ledled Cymru’n ail afael yn eu defnydd yn dilyn y pandemig yn ystod y cyfnod hwn. Ni 
dderbyniodd Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr yr adroddiad hwn tan 2023. Yn ystod y cyfnod, 
gwelodd y gwasanaeth gynnydd o 23% mewn benthycwyr gweithredol gyda thwf ymysg benthyciadau 
plant ac oedolion. 
 
Atodiad 2 yw adroddiad 2022-23 Llywodraeth Cymru mewn ymateb i’r datganiad hunan asesu yn 
ymwneud â Safonau Llyfrgelloedd Cyhoeddus Cymru. 
 
Croesawodd yr Aelod Cabinet dros Ddiogelwch a Lles Cymunedol yr adroddiad gan ddweud ei fod yn dda 
gweld bod Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr yn darparu’r gwasanaeth llyfrgell hwn i safon uchel iawn. 
 
Llongyfarchwyd AWEN gan y Dirprwy Arweinydd am ennill cyllid amgen. Ychwanegodd fod Llywodraeth 
Cymru wedi gofyn i unrhyw doriadau sy’n rhaid eu gwneud i wasanaethau llyfrgell gan Awdurdodau Lleol 
beidio â bod yn anghymesur â thoriadau eraill, sy’n bwynt pwysig i’w ddeall. Roedd yn bwysig hefyd ein 
bod yn gwrando ar yr ymgynghorid cyhoeddus ac yn ystyried safbwyntiau’r trigolion a’r hyn maen nhw ei 
eisiau a ddim ei eisiau, er mwyn sicrhau bod ein dewisiadau’n gynhwysol.   
 

P
age 10



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 12 MAWRTH 2024 

 

PENDERFYNWYD: Ystyriodd y Cabinet gynnwys yr adroddiad ac Atodiadau 1 a 2 a’u nodi, ac ystyried y 
gwaith positif mae’r gwasanaethau llyfrgell ym Mhen-y-bont ar Ogwr wedi eu darparu hyd yn hyn mewn 
perthynas â Safonau Llyfrgelloedd Cyhoeddus Cymru. 
 

Dyddiad y Penderfyniad 
 

12 Mawrth 2024 

 
 

308. Gweithdrefn Benodi a Diswyddo Llywodraethwyr Awdurdod Lleol 
 

 

Penderfyniad 
 

Cyflwynodd Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol Addysg a Chymorth i Deuluoedd adroddiad oedd yn 
 

 ceisio cymeradwyaeth gan y Cabinet ar gyfer gweithdrefn benodi a diswyddo llywodraethwyr 
awdurdod lleol (Atodiad A); ac 

 

 yn ceisio awdurdodaeth i ddiwygio’r Cynllun Dirprwyo Swyddogaethau 
 

 
Cymeradwywyd y weithdrefn benodi a diswyddo llywodraethwyr awdurdod lleol gan y Cabinet yn 2008. 
Wrth i’r weithdrefn bresennol ei gwneud hi’n ofynnol i’r Cabinet gymeradwyo penodi llywodraethwyr 
awdurdod lleol (yn seiliedig ar argymhellion gan swyddogion), nid yw’r weithdrefn newydd arfaethedig yn ei 
gwneud hi’n ofynnol cael cymeradwyaeth y Cabinet. Y rheswm am hyn yw bod penodiadau o’r fath yn 
weithredol, ac felly, mae’r weithdrefn newydd yn caniatáu i benodiadau gael eu gwneud ar sail lefelau o 
wybodaeth, sgiliau a phrofiad perthnasol gyda thystiolaeth.  
 
Nododd Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol Addysg a Chymorth i Deuluoedd mai’r cynnig yw bod y swyddogaeth 
newydd ganlynol yn cael ei dirprwyo i Gyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol Addysg a Chymorth i Deuluoedd ar 
Gynllun B2 o’r Cynllun Dirprwyo Swyddogaethau. Ceir rhagor o wybodaeth yn adran 3 yr adroddiad.  
 
Croesawodd Aelod y Cabinet dros Addysg yr adroddiad gan nodi y bydd y newid yn gwella effeithiolrwydd 
y broses o benodi Llywodraethwyr i Awdurdod Lleol. Gall penodi gymryd ychydig o wythnosau ar hyn o 
bryd wrth i’r adroddiad gael ei ddrafftio, mae’n cael ei gymeradwyo gan Aelod o’r Cabinet ac yna’n dod 
gerbron y Cabinet, felly croesawir y newid a bydd yn helpu i lenwi’r swyddi gwag yn gynt.  
 
PENDERFYNWYD: Cabinet: 

P
age 11



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 12 MAWRTH 2024 

 

 

 cymeradwywyd y weithdrefn ar gyfer penodi a diswyddo llywodraethwyr i awdurdod lleol  
fel y crynhowyd ym mharagraffau 3.1-3.5 a’i nodi yn Atodiad A yr adroddiad 

 cymeradwywyd y diwygiad i’r Cynlluniau Dirprwyo Swyddogaethau fel y nodir ym mharagraff 3.6. 

 cytunwyd y dylai manylion yr ymgeiswyr fod yn ddienw.   
 

Dyddiad y Penderfyniad 
 

12 Mawrth 2024 

 
 

309. Penodi Llywodraethwyr i Awdurdod Lleol 
 

 

Penderfyniad 
 

Cyflwynodd y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol Addysg a Chymorth i Deuluoedd adroddiad gan geisio 
cymeradwyaeth y Cabinet ar gyfer penodi llywodraethwyr awdurdod lleol i gyrff llywodraethu ysgol a restrir 
ym mharagraff 3.1. 
 
Ychwanegodd bod yr holl ymgeiswyr wedi bodloni’r meini prawf ar gyfer eu penodi fel llywodraethwr 
awdurdod lleol, ac nid oedd cystadleuaeth ar gyfer y swyddi gwag hyn. 
 
PENDERFYNWYD: Cymeradwyodd y Cabinet y penodiadau a nodir ym mharagraff 3.1 yr adroddiad.  
 

Dyddiad y Penderfyniad 
 

12 Mawrth 2024 

 
 

310. Polisi Derbyn Ysgolion 2025-2026 
 

 

Penderfyniad 
 

Cyflwynodd Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol Addysg a Chymorth i Deuluoedd adroddiad gan geisio 
cymeradwyaeth y Cabinet ar gyfer Polisi Derbyn i Ysgolion 2025-2026 yn Atodiad A. 
 
Eglurodd fod Fforwm derbyn Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr wedi cytuno ar ddrafft Polisi Derbyn i Ysgolion 2025-
2026, yn unol â’r Cod, ym mis Hydref 2023. Cynhaliwyd yr ymgynghoriad a grybwyllwyd (nodir manylion yn 
adran 2 yr adroddiad ar bolisi 2025-2026) gyda’r holl bartïon rhwng 8 Ionawr 2024 a 2 Chwefror 2024. 
Nodwyd manylion yr ymatebion yn adran 3 yr adroddiad.  
 

P
age 12



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 12 MAWRTH 2024 

 

Gofynnodd y Dirprwy Arweinydd am wybodaeth ynghylch pam mai’r flwyddyn nesaf mae’r Polisi yn dod i 
rym ac nid eleni. Darparodd y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol y wybodaeth hon ar gyfer y cofnod.  
 
PENDERFYNWYD: Cymeradwyodd y Cabinet y Polisi Derbyn i Ysgolion 2025-2026 yn Atodiad A yr 
adroddiad. 
 

Dyddiad y Penderfyniad 
 

12 Mawrth 2024 

 
 

311. Polisi Cludiant rhwng y cartref a’r ysgol/coleg 
 

 

Penderfyniad 
 

Cyflwynodd Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol Addysg a Chymorth i Deuluoedd adroddiad gan geisio 
cymeradwyaeth y Cabinet i gychwyn ymgynghoriad cyhoeddus ar newidiadau arfaethedig i Bolisi Cludiant 
o’r Cartref i’r Ysgol/Coleg yr awdurdod lleol. 
 
Eglurodd bod y Strategaeth Ariannol Tymor Canolig 2024-25 a 2027-28 terfynol, a gyflwynwyd i’r Cyngor 
ar 28 Chwefror 2024, yn cynnwys arbediad o £792k ar gyfer 2025-26 mewn perthynas â’r Polisi Cludiant 
o’r Cartref i’r Ysgol/Coleg presennol. Er bod arbedion sylweddol wedi eu gwneud yn dilyn newid y polisi 
gan y Cabinet ym mis Medi 2015, mae newidiadau i ddemograffeg a galw, yn enwedig ar ôl y pandemig, 
wedi golygu bod angen twf cyllidebol ychwanegol i gynorthwyo’r gyllideb cludiant i ddysgwyr. 
 
Amlinellodd Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol Addysg a Chymorth i Deuluoedd fanylion yr ymgynghoriadau 
blaenorol sydd wedi eu cynnal dros y blynyddoedd diwethaf a’r newidiadau a wnaed wedi’r rhain. Byddai’r 
ymgynghoriad arfaethedig hefyd yn ystyried y cyd-destun cyfreithiol fel y nodir yn adran 3 yr adroddiad.  
 
Gofynnodd yr Aelod Cabinet dros Dai, Cynllunio ac Adfywio a gynhaliwyd asesiad effaith ar bobl o 
gefndiroedd incwm isel a gwahanol gefndiroedd economaidd-gymdeithasol mewn perthynas â’r 
newidiadau arfaethedig. Cyflwynodd Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol Addysg a Chymorth i Deuluoedd ymateb 
manwl. 
 
Gwnaeth y Dirprwy Arweinydd y pwynt o sicrhau bod rhieni’n cymryd cyfrifoldeb cyfartal i sicrhau eu bod 
yn gallu cael eu plentyn i’r ysgol ac yn defnyddio cymorth symudedd yn briodol. Mae yna nifer o 
gymhorthion ar gael i ddisgyblion sydd ag anghenion symudedd etc., fodd bynnag, mae’n bwysig sicrhau 
eu bod, fel rhieni, yn gwneud eu rhan. Dylai cymhorthion symudedd sydd ar gyfer y plentyn gael eu 

P
age 13



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 12 MAWRTH 2024 

 

defnyddio gan y plentyn yn unig. 
 
PENDERFYNWYD: Cymeradwyodd y Cabinet ymgynghoriad 12 wythnos ar y cynigion canlynol: 
 

 Atal cludiant etifeddol i’r holl ddysgwyr sy’n elwa o gael llwybr cerdded (diogel) a nodwyd  
 i’r ysgol, yn unol â’r pellter statudol  
o ddwy filltir ar gyfer disgyblion oed cynradd a thair milltir ar gyfer disgyblion oed uwchradd. 
 

  Cael gwared ar y warchodaeth ‘brawd a chwaer’ etifeddol i ddisgyblion. 
 

 Cael gwared ar yr holl gludiant i ddisgyblion meithrin (ac eithrio’r rhai sy’n mynychu  
 eu hysgol cyfrwng Cymraeg neu ysgol ffydd addas agosaf). 
 

  Cael gwared ar yr holl gludiant Ôl-16 ac eithrio disgyblion sy’n mynychu’r ysgolion canlynol: 
 
Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Llangynwyd; 
Ysgol Uwchradd Gatholig yr Archesgob McGrath; ac 
Ysgol Uwchradd Esgob Llandaf yr Eglwys yng Nghymru. 
 

 Cynnig yr opsiwn o ‘gyllideb cludiant personol’ fyddai’n darparu lwfans milltiroedd o 45c y filltir i 
rieni/gofalwyr disgyblion sydd ag ADY. 
 

Dyddiad y Penderfyniad 
 

12 Mawrth 2024 

 
 

312. Adroddiadau Gwybodaeth i’w Nodi 
 

 

Penderfyniad 
 

Cyflwynodd y Prif Swyddog Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol a Rheoleiddio, AD a Pholisi Corfforaethol adroddiad 
yn hysbysu’r Cabinet am yr Adroddiad Gwybodaeth sy’n nodi’r hyn sydd wedi ei gyhoeddi ers y cyfarfod 
diwethaf. 
 
Roedd manylion ynghylch hyn yn adran 3.1 yr adroddiad. Noder, mae’r adroddiad hwn eisoes wedi bod 
drwy broses graffu a’i roi i’r Cabinet ar gyfer ei nodi. 
 

P
age 14



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 12 MAWRTH 2024 

 

PENDERFYNWYD: Cydnabu'r Cabinet gyhoeddi’r adroddiad y cyfeirir ato ym mharagraff 3.1 yr adroddiad. 
 

Dyddiad y Penderfyniad 
 

12 Mawrth 2024 

 
 

313. Blaenraglenni Gwaith y Cabinet, y Cyngor a Phwyllgor Trosolwg a 
Chraffu 
 

 

Penderfyniad 
 

Cyflwynodd Prif Swyddog Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol a Rheoleiddio, AD a Pholisi Corfforaethol gan geisio 
cymeradwyaeth y Cyngor ar gyfer eitemau i’w cynnwys ym Mlaenraglen Waith y Cabinet ar gyfer y cyfnod 
1 Mawrth 2024 i 30 Mehefin 2024 ac i’r Cabinet nodi Blaenraglenni Gwaith y Cyngor a’r Pwyllgorau 
Trosolwg a Chraffu ar gyfer yr un cyfnod. 
 
Eglurodd fod y Blaenraglenni Gwaith ar gyfer y cyfnod uchod wedi eu hatodi i’r adroddiad, fe a ganlyn:  
 

 Cabinet - Atodiad 1 

 Cyngor - Atodiad 2 

 Pwyllgorau Trosolwg a Chraffu - Atodiad 3 
 
Tynnodd y Dirprwy Arweinydd sylw at y ffaith bod nifer o’r adroddiadau yn hir iawn a gofynnodd i ystyriaeth 
briodol gael ei rhoi i sicrhau bod adroddiadau’n fwy cryno er budd yr Aelodau yn ogystal â thrigolion Pen-y-
bont ar Ogwr. 
 
PENDERFYNWYD: Cabinet: 

 Cymeradwywyd Blaenraglen Waith y Cabinet ar gyfer y cyfnod 1 Mawrth 2024 i 30 
Mehefin 2024 yn Atodiad 1; 

 Nodwyd Blaenraglenni Gwaith Pwyllgorau Trosolwg a Chraffu’r Cyngor ar gyfer yr un cyfnod, fel y 
gwelir yn Atodiad 2 ac Atodiad 3 yr adroddiad, yn y drefn honno. 
 

Dyddiad y Penderfyniad 
 

12 Mawrth 2024 

 
 

314. Eitemau Brys  

P
age 15



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 12 MAWRTH 2024 

 

 

Penderfyniad 
 

Dim 

Dyddiad y Penderfyniad 
 

12 Mawrth 2024 

 
 
 
 
Er mwyn edrych ar y drafodaeth bellach a gafwyd ar yr eitemau uchod, cliciwch y ddolen hon 
  
Daeth y cyfarfod i ben am 17:44.  
 

P
age 16

https://youtu.be/jKx2WorBmog


 

 

 
Meeting of:  

 
CABINET  

 

 
Date of Meeting:  

 
14 MAY 2024 

 

 
Report Title:  

OUTCOME OF THE CONSULTATION ON THE DRAFT 

STRATEGIC EQUALITY PLAN OBJECTIVES 2024 - 2028  

 
Report Owner / 
Corporate Director:  

 

 
CHIEF OFFICER - FINANCE, HOUSING AND CHANGE 

Responsible 
Officer:  

ZOE EDWARDS - CONSULTATION, ENGAGEMENT AND 
EQUALITIES MANAGER 

 
 

Policy Framework 
and Procedure 
Rules:  

There is no impact on the policy framework or procedure 
rules. 
 
 

Executive 
Summary:  
 

To inform Cabinet on the outcome of the draft Strategic 

Equality Plan objectives 2024-2028 consultation and to seek 

approval of the Strategy for publication. The consultation 

was undertaken over an 8-week period between 4th January 

2024 to 29th February 2024 and received 400 responses. 

 
 

1. Purpose of Report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform Cabinet of the outcome of the draft Strategic 

Equality Plan objectives 2024-2028 consultation and to seek approval of the 
Strategic Equality Plan and Objectives 2024-2028 for publication. 

 
2. Background 
  
2.1 The Strategic Equality Plan and Objectives 2024-2028 have been developed to 

demonstrate the Council's commitment to meeting the Equality Act 2010 (Statutory 
Duties) (Wales) Regulations 2011, which came into force on 6 April 2011. This 
Strategy (attached as Appendix B) sets out how Bridgend County Borough Council 
will achieve this.   

 
 
2.2 Within the Equality Act 2010, public bodies have an additional responsibility to meet 

the Public Sector Equality Duty. These are outlined below: 
 

Public Sector Equality Duty 
The General Duty 
 
When making decisions and delivering services we must have due regard to: 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4



 

 Eliminating discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct 
that is prohibited under the Act. 

 Advancing equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and people who do not share it (protected 
characteristics are explained later in this report). 

 Fostering good relations between people who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and peoples who do not share it. 

 
3. Current situation / proposal  

 
3.1 To develop the equality objectives we have engaged with our residents, 

stakeholders and our workforce and used relevant information, including Equality 
and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) reports, Welsh Government reports and 
internal strategies. In addition to this we have also: 

 

 Reviewed our Strategic Equality Plan 2020 – 2024 and our action plan for this 

period and considered our achievements to date; 

 Used the Council’s corporate plan which outlines the five ways of working and 

the seven well-being objectives identified to underpin our equality goals; 

 Given further consideration to each of the nine protected characteristics covered 

by the three main aims of the general duty and the requirement to eliminate 

discrimination, harassment and other actions prohibited in the Equality Act 2010; 

 Considered national and local issues such as developing an Anti-Racist Wales 

Action Plan (ARWAP), along with an LGBTQ+ action plan; 

 Assessed what we have learnt from regional networks and partnerships such as 

domestic abuse, violence against men and women and sexual violence and hate 

crime; 

 Looked at a number of the Council’s existing plans and strategies as well as the 

consultations which took place to inform their development; 

 Used feedback that we regularly get from local equality and diversity groups and 

via the Bridgend Community Cohesion and Equality Forum such as how 

accessible our services are and how we can help support, promote and raise 

awareness of issues such as hate crime and LGBTQ History Month; 

 Established a corporate equality group made up of key officers from a variety of 

directorates to discuss and agree key priorities and objectives; and 

 Carried out engagement and equality sessions with local school children to 

encourage them to share their views on what they feel is important to them.  

 
3.2 We have set our objectives in line with the findings of the EHRC Is Wales Fairer 

report and the public consultation. The following overarching objectives have been 
developed following the consultation to reflect the views of residents and 
stakeholders from across the county borough: 

 

 Access to services 

 Protecting the most vulnerable 

 Living standards 

 Participation and Engagement 

Page 18

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/protected-characteristics


 

 Learning 

 Employment 

 
3.3  A public survey was available to complete online through a link on the consultation 

page of the Council’s website. Paper copies of the consultation were also available, 
which could be sent directly to residents upon request. The consultation was sent 
out to our Citizen Panel, shared with Town and Community Councils and public 
engagement events were also held throughout the consultation period. Surveys 
were available in Welsh and English Language; alternative copies were available 
upon request. The content of the page remains online. Respondents could choose 
to answer all or some questions. All survey responses offered the option of 
anonymity.  
 

3.4 In total, there were 400 responses to the public consultation, including online and 
paper completions. 

 
 
3.5 The attached consultation report (Appendix A) sets out in detail the views 

expressed by those who participated. BCBC consulted on six proposed equality 
objectives to demonstrate how we will promote equal opportunities for all and make 
a real difference to the lives of those living and working in Bridgend County 
Borough. Overall, the majority of respondents provided positive feedback on the 
proposed objectives. Comments and suggestions made throughout the consultation 
were considered when developing the strategic equality action plan (Appendix B). 

 
 
 
3.6 Social Media 
 The Council currently has 14,766 followers on its English Twitter account and 369 

on its Welsh Twitter account; 20,087 followers on its English Facebook page and 
262 on the Welsh Facebook page; 3,335 followers on Instagram and 7,298 
followers on LinkedIn and 209 subscribers on YouTube. Details of the success of 
the social media and website campaigns can be found in the full consultation report 
at Appendix A. 

 
3.7 govDelivery  

govDelivery is a digital communications platform that was introduced by the local 
authority in June 2020 to improve communication.  It is currently used to issue 
Council updates directly to residents’ email inboxes in the language of their choice.   
There are currently 35,158 English language and 280 Welsh language users who 
have subscribed to receive the Council’s weekly update emails. 
govDelivery is also used to distribute notification of consultation to members of the  
Citizen panel who have subscribed to email correspondence.  
 
Weekly staff bulletin messages including details of the consultation are sent out to 
staff via govDelivery. Details of click through links to the consultation can be found 
in Appendix A.  

  
 
3.8 Media and publicity 

Page 19



 

A press release was issued to coincide with the start of the consultation, to raise 
awareness and encourage participation. This was released on 17th November 2023 
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/news/consultation-launched-to-shape-council-s-new-
engagement-and-participation-strategy/ .  A last chance reminder of the 
Engagement and Participation consultation was included in news round-up on 19 
January 2024. The Leader of the Council also shared in his regular update emails to 
his list of contacts which include local councillors, MP’s, MS’s. 
 

3.9 Promotional materials 

 Staff Bulletin  

 Details of the engagement and participation survey were included in our weekly 

staff bulletin, which included links to the survey and strategy. 

 
3.10  Throughout the consultation period there six in-person engagement events, 

including public drop-in sessions, to encourage residents and members to share 
their views on the strategy.  Details of the events were shared via the Council’s 
social media. In-person events were held at: 
 

 The Bridge  

 Town and Community Council Forum  

 Corporate overview and scrutiny committee  

 Pyle Life Centre 

 Ogmore Life Centre  

 Garw Valley Life Centre  

4. Equality implications (including Socio-economic Duty and Welsh Language) 
 
4.1 An initial Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) screening has identified that there would 

be no negative impact on those with one or more of the protected characteristics, or 
socio-economic disadvantage or the use of the Welsh Language. It is therefore not 
necessary to carry out a full EIA on this policy or proposal. 

 
5.  Well-being of Future Generations implications and connection to Corporate 

Well-being Objectives  
 
5.1  The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of this 

report. It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable impacts upon 
the achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a result of this report.  

 
6. Climate Change Implications  
 
6.1  There are no Climate Change Implications from this report.  
 
7.  Safeguarding and Corporate Parent Implications 
 
7.1  There are no Safeguarding and Corporate Parent Implications from this report. 
 
8.  Financial Implications  
 
8.1  The costs of carrying out the consultation were met from existing budgets.  

Page 20

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/news/consultation-launched-to-shape-council-s-new-engagement-and-participation-strategy/
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/news/consultation-launched-to-shape-council-s-new-engagement-and-participation-strategy/


 

 
9.  Recommendation 
 
9.1 Cabinet is recommended to note the outcome of the consultation and approve the 

Strategic Equality Plan and Objectives 2024-2028 attached as Appendix B for 
publication.  

 
 
Background documents  
None 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



  
 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 

 

Date of issue: April 2024 

  

 

 

 

 

  

Strategic Equality 

Objectives  
Consultation Findings Report 

Page 23

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


  
 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 

 

Contents 

1. Overview  ....................................................................................................................... 3 

2. Consultation Process ..................................................................................................... 3 

3. Marketing and engagement methods ............................................................................. 3 

3.1. Social media ........................................................................................................ 4 

3.2. Engagement HQ .................................................................................................. 4 

3.3. GovDelivery  ........................................................................................................ 6 

3.3.1. Weekly Residents bulletin ................................................................................ 6 

3.3.2. Staff Bulletin .................................................................................................... 6 

3.3.3. Citizen Panel.................................................................................................... 6 

3.4. Media and Publicity ............................................................................................. 7 

3.5. Engagement Events ............................................................................................ 7 

4. Response Rate .............................................................................................................. 8 

5. Questions and analysis - consultation Survey ................................................................ 8 

5.1. Language used to complete the survey. .............................................................. 8 

6. Survey Questions and Analysis: ..................................................................................... 8 

7. Conclusion ................................................................................................................... 16 

7.1. Equality Impact Assessment.............................................................................. 16 

 

 

  

Page 24

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


  
 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 

 

1. Overview  

Bridgend County Borough Council has proposed six draft equality objectives to drive 

how we will promote equal opportunities for all and make a real difference to the 

lives of those living and working in Bridgend County Borough. Feedback of the 

proposed six objectives will be used to shape the Strategic Equality Action Plan. 

To ensure our objectives reflect citizens’ priorities, a public consultation was 

undertaken over an 8-week period, between 4 January 2024 to 29 February 2024.  

In total, there were 400 responses, including online completions, paper completions 

and ideas submitted to our online ideas board.  

2. Consultation Process  

 

The consultation consisted of a public survey that was available to complete online 

through a link on the consultation page of the council’s website. Paper copies of the 

consultation were also available, which could be sent directly to residents upon 

request. The consultation was sent out to our Citizen Panel, and shared with Town 

and Community Councils, and the Youth Council. In-person public engagement 

events were also held throughout the consultation period.  

The data collection methods, which include the online survey and a paper survey 

were developed using plain English to maximise understanding. An easy-read 

version of the survey was also available to download from the consultation project 

page. These response methods were designed to give a consistency to the survey 

across multiple platforms.  Respondents could choose to answer all or some 

questions. All survey responses offered the option of anonymity. 

 

3. Marketing and engagement methods 

This section details methods used to raise the profile of the consultation and 

encourage participation.  

Page 25

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


  
 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 

 

3.1. Social media  

The public consultation was posted bilingually to the council’s corporate Twitter, 

Facebook, and LinkedIn channels throughout the consultation period, to raise 

awareness of the consultation and to encourage citizens to share their views on the 

strategy.  

The council currently has over 20K Facebook followers and 14.7K followers on its 

English X (Twitter) account, and 369 on its Welsh X (Twitter) account.  

The below table shows engagement rates with social media posts promoting the 

strategic equality objectives throughout the consultation period.  

 

 Impressions Comments Shares Link clicks 

English  11216 8 15 62 

Welsh 176 0 0 0 

Total  11,392 8 15 62 

  

3.2. Engagement HQ  

Engagement HQ is a digital engagement platform that supports the council’s online 

consultation and engagement activities. The platform is available in both English and 

Welsh Language.  

The online survey was published using Engagement HQ, with the link available on 

the consultation page of the council’s website.  

The following graph provides an overview of visitors to the strategic equality 

objectives project page on Engagement HQ.  

 

Page 26

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


  
 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 

 

 

The table below highlights visits to the Engagement HQ project page for the strategic 

equality objectives consultation.  

Aware visitors  1,075 

Informed visitors  529 

Engaged visitors  372 

Visits referred from social media  50 

Visits referred from council’s website 239 

Visitors from search engine  5 

Direct  381 

 

Aware visitors: A visitor that has made at least one single visit to the site or project 

page, and is therefore ‘aware’ of the project, but has not clicked anything or 

participated in the survey.  

Informed visitors: An informed visitor has taken the ‘next step’ from being aware 

and clicked on something, for example, viewed key dates, a document, or clicked on 

the survey.  

Engaged visitors: These are visitors that have engaged with the project by 

submitting a response to the Strategic equality objectives survey.  

Page 27

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


  
 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 

 

 

3.3. GovDelivery  

GovDelivery is a digital communications tool that is used by the council, to send 

messages directly to residents’ and staff email inboxes in the language of their 

choice. 

3.3.1. Weekly Residents bulletin:  

There are currently 35,143 English language subscribers and 283 Welsh language 

subscribers from Bridgend County Borough to the weekly Residents’ Bulletin.  

Throughout the consultation period details of the consultation on the strategic 

equality objectives were included in GovDelivery resident bulletins which contains 10 

weekly news stories and updates. Residents then have the opportunity to click 

through to the online survey to become an engaged visitor.  

Three resident bulletins were sent out about the consultation on the strategic equality 

objectives, which included links to the strategy and online survey. 

The weekly news roundup generated a total of 125 link clicks to the strategic equality 

objective survey (124 English, 1 Welsh).  

 

3.3.2. Staff Bulletin  

There are currently 5,233 staff signed up to our staff bulletin.  

Details of the Strategic equality objectives survey was shared in our weekly staff 

bulletin five times throughout the period of the consultation, which included links to 

the survey and strategy.  

The staff bulletin generated a total of 51 link clicks to the strategic equality objective 

survey.  

3.3.3. Citizen Panel  

At the beginning of the consultation period, members of the Citizen panel were 

sent the strategic equality objective survey. Members received emails via 

GovDelivery, and those who chose to receive paper copies received them through 

the post. 

Page 28

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


  
 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 

 

The citizen panel email generated a total of 193 link clicks to the strategic equality 

objective survey.  

A total of 237 letters were sent to Citizen panel members by post. 29 completed 

paper copies of the survey were before the consultation closing date.  

3.4. Media and Publicity  

The consultation was promoted to the media as part of the Bridgend County Borough 

news round-up on: 

 12 January 

 16 February 

 23 February 

Media included: Wales Online, Glamorgan Gazette newspaper, Glamorgan Star 

Newspaper, Sky News, Channel 4 news, ITV Wales, BBC Wales, Bridge FM, Heart 

Radio, Swansea Bay News and S4C. 

The release was also shared promoted by the Leader of the council (Cllr Huw David) 

in his regular updates to members and key community contacts. 

 

3.5. Engagement Events 

Throughout the consultation period six in-person engagement events were held 

around the county, including public drop-in sessions, to encourage residents and 

members to share their views on the draft objectives. 

Details of the events were shared via the council’s social media.  

The public consultation events took place in the following venuess:  

 Town and Community Council Forum  

 Corporate overview and scrutiny committee  

 Pyle Life Centre 

 Ogmore Life Centre  

 Garw Life Centre 

 Brynteg Comprehensive School       

Page 29

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


  
 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 

 

4. Response Rate 

There were 400  responses in total to the survey, 371 responses were submitted 

through the online survey, and 29 responses were submitted as paper copies. 

Engagement events were used to inform citizens and raise awareness of the 

consultation. The sessions provided an opportunity for individuals to gain further 

information regarding the objectives and consultation, and also receive additional 

support to complete the survey. Citizens were given the option to fill out a paper 

copy of the survey or through the link. These responses are included in the overall 

figure.  

5. Questions and analysis - consultation Survey 

Feedback received from the consultation will be used to inform the development of 

the objectives within the Strategic Equality Plan.  

5.1. Language used to complete the survey.  

 

Respondents to the consultation survey were 

initially asked in which language they would like 

to complete the survey. Overall, 99.5% of 

respondents selected English with 0.5% 

selecting Welsh. 

 

6. Survey Questions and Analysis:  

This section outlines and analyses the questions asked in the survey. All questions 

were optional, so participants could choose to answer all or some questions.  

Objective 1: Access to Services 

Improve the experience and outcomes for our customers, ensuring that 

every resident has equity of access to the services that they need.  

Do you agree with objective 1?  

Language # % 

English 398 99.5% 

Welsh 2 0.5% 

Total 400 100.0 

Page 30

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


  
 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 

 

 

As shown above, 97.5% of respondents (387) agree with objective 1. Whereas 2.5.% 

respondents (10) disagree with the objective. 

Those who disagreed with the objective questioned the affordability of the objective 

in practice and the financial implications of implementing the objective. Some 

expressed concern that specific council services do not comply with the objective 

e.g., no access to disabled toilets in Bridgend town centre. Others suggested 

changes to the wording of the objective to ‘Equality’ rather than ‘Equity.’  

 

Objective 2: Protecting the most vulnerable.  

Establish comprehensive policies and procedures that effectively  

safeguard and support the rights and well -being of our most vulnerable 

populations, including children, the elderly, people with disabilities, those 

experiencing homelessness or poverty and those that access care and 

support from Social Services.  

Do you agree with objective 2?   

387

10

Yes

No

Page 31

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


  
 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 

 

 

As shown above, 95.7% of respondents (381) agree with objective 2. However, 4.3% 

of respondents (17) disagree with the objective.  

Some respondents disagreed because they felt everyone in the county required 

support and protection, not only the most vulnerable people. Others disagreed with 

the objective because they felt that existing policies provided protections but were 

not sufficiently implemented and should be reviewed. Some expressed the concern 

that the objective could result in people becoming too dependent on council services. 

One comment expressed they agree with this objective provided it is implemented in 

line with the Equality Act 2010, which grants women and girls the right to carers who 

are of the same sex. 

 

Objective 3: Living Standards  

Tackle poverty and support independent living by considering the impact 

of any policy changes or decisions under the socio -economic duty. 

Consideration to vital services such as Housing and homelessness, cost 

of living crisis and the adverse effects on individuals.  

Do you agree with objective 3?  

381

17

Yes

No

Page 32

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


  
 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 

 

 

As shown above, 95% of respondents agree with Objective 3, and 5% of 

respondents (20) disagree with the objective.  

Of those who disagreed, there are various concerns about the financial viability of 

measures to support the objective. Others expressed that independent living is not 

suitable for all, as every individual's situation is unique. There is a view that the 

objective should emphasise meaningful action rather than limiting it to ‘considering 

the impact of…’ as this does not give the impression that this objective will actively 

address the changes necessary to tackle poverty and support independent living. 

One of the comments expressed the concern there is failure to accommodate for 

disabled people.  

 

Objective 4: Participation and Engagement  

Encourage people and communities to take part and engage in issues that 

are important to them and influence the decisions that affect their lives. 

Building and increasing quality relationships with communities to ensure a 

focus on what matters to them. 

Do you agree with objective 4?  

377

20

Yes

No

Page 33

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


  
 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 

 

 

As shown above, 94.2% of respondents (372) agree with objective 4, whereas 5.8% 

of respondents (23) disagree with the objective.  

Respondents who disagreed were divided in their opinions; some believed the 

council was disingenuous in its approach to participation and involvement with the 

public and that complaints are not taken seriously, or action is not taken to resolve 

them. There is also a view that the objective is very vague and needs further 

clarification. Whereas other respondents felt this objective is not the council’s 

responsibility and individuals ought to take ownership of their actions and cease 

relying on council services so much.  

 

Objective 5: Learning  

Promote equal access to quality learning for all students, regardless of 

their socioeconomic background, abilities, age, or ethnic background. 

Support diversity, equity, and inclusion.  

Do you agree with objective 5?  

372

23

Yes

No

Page 34

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


  
 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 

 

 

As shown above, 94.4% of respondents (372) agree with objective 5, whereas 5.6% 

of respondents (22) disagree with the objective.  

Of the respondents that disagree, some feel that focusing on diversity, equity and 

inclusion often creates a sense of inequality and exclusion. There is a view that the 

objective should focus more on improving learning to make it better suited to the 

demands of current and future generations. It is suggested that the wording of 

‘equitable access’ is preferrable to ‘equal access’ since no two people start with the 

same opportunities and this should therefore offer a means of effectively addressing 

those disparities. There are shared concerns that Welsh medium education receives 

more support and budget than English medium education.  

 

Objective 6: Employment  

Promote a more inclusive workforce and improve the participation, well -

being, and opportunities for development for those with protected 

characteristics.  

Do you agree with objective 6?  

372

22

Yes

No

Page 35

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


  
 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 

 

 

As shown above, 89.9% of respondents agree with objective 6, whereas 10.1% of 

respondents disagree with the objective.  

Of the respondents that disagreed, most commented they felt it should always be the 

best person for the job, and people should not be appointed on the basis of 

protected characteristics. Whereas some shared the concern there are fewer 

employment opportunities for people with protected characteristics. Another 

comment proposes that the objective should be to promote participation, wellbeing, 

and opportunities for everyone.  

 

Are there any objectives you think should be added?  

 

As shown above, 78% of respondents (290) believe there are no other objectives to 

be added. 22% of respondents (82) think there should be other objectives added.  

349

39

Yes

No

82

290

Yes

No

Page 36

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


  
 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 

 

Those respondents that felt additional objectives should be added suggested the 

following subjects:   

 Tackle bullying, hate and discrimination.  

 Promoting active and healthy lifestyles.  

 An objective to address violence against women and domestic violence 

victims.  

 Recognise local differences in health and standard of living while addressing 

the negative impacts on underprivileged people and communities. 

 Addressing isolation and loneliness. 

 Training for school staff to support children with special needs, and signposts 

for special need assessments.  

 Promote neurodiversity, raise awareness of challenges faced by 

neurodivergent individuals.  

 Provide support to LGBTQ+ students.  

 

Do you have any further comments regarding proposed Equality 

Objectives for 2024-2028.  

89 respondents left a comment saying no further comment or nothing. Of the others 

who left a response there are worries that proposed service reductions would conflict 

with these intended objectives, and it is suggested that SMART objectives should be 

created alongside each objective for credibility. It is suggested that community 

members should have access to more accessible and in-person services, with 

information written in a simpler and easy to read manner.  

  

Page 37

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


  
 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 

 

7. Conclusion  

Bridgend County Borough Council consulted on six proposed equality objectives to 

demonstrate how we will promote equal opportunities for all and make a real 

difference to the lives of those living and working in Bridgend County Borough. 

During the eight-week consultation period, the engagement team consulted with 

multiple community groups, to receive collective responses. The face-to-face events 

provided opportunity to interact with hard-to-reach groups.  

Overall, the majority of respondents provided positive feedback on the proposed 

objectives. Comments and suggestions made throughout the consultation will be 

considered when developing our strategic equality action plan. Further to this, 

comments will also be considered when developing our strategic equality action 

plan.  

 

7.1. Equality Impact Assessment  

 

An initial Equality Impact Screening assessment was completed to identify any 

negative impacts of the strategic equality objectives and was presented to cabinet 

alongside the strategy.  

This is an information report; therefore, it is not necessary to carry out an EIA in the 

production of this report. It is considered that there will be no significant or 

unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report. 

 

Page 38

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


 

 Appendix B 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Strategic Equality Plan 
and Objectives 
2024 – 2028 

 
 

Page 39



 

 2 

 

Table of Content 

 

1. Introduction and background ..................................................................................................... 3 

2. About us ........................................................................................................................................ 5 

3. The Purpose of the Strategic Equality Objectives .................................................................. 6 

4. Statutory Duties ............................................................................................................................ 7 

4.1 The General Equality Duty ................................................................................................... 7 

4.2 Welsh Language Commitment ............................................................................................ 8 

4.3 Socio-economic Duty ............................................................................................................ 8 

4.4 The Specific Public Sector Equality Duties (Wales) ......................................................... 8 

4.5 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 ............................................... 9 

5. Welsh Government reports and data ........................................................................................ 9 

6. Bridgend Council’s Equality Objectives 2024-2028 .............................................................. 10 

7. Developing our equality objectives.......................................................................................... 11 

8. Next Steps................................................................................................................................... 12 

9. Delivery of objectives ................................................................................................................ 13 

10. Assess the impact or potential impact on protected groups? ........................................... 13 

11. How to contact us: ................................................................................................................... 13 

Accessible formats ......................................................................................................................... 14 

 

Page 40



 

 3 

1. Introduction and background 

 

Welcome to Bridgend County Borough Council’s fourth Strategic Equality Plan (SEP) 

and Objectives, which is intended to cover the next four years (2024 to 2028). 

 

We are pleased to present this SEP which outlines our six strategic equality objectives. 

These will be used to form an action plan during this period to ensure that equality, 

equity, and fairness remain firmly at the heart of how the council plans, provides, and 

delivers important services to the people of Bridgend County Borough. 

 

Our objectives are based on the Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) 

research “Is Wales Fairer 2018?” which sets out key inequalities in Wales. 

 

The new objectives set out how we will deliver our equalities commitments whilst 

continuing to be an inclusive and effective organisation that is representative of its 

communities and does not tolerate discrimination of any kind. 

 

Our aim is to deliver good quality services to our residents, while considering their 

differing needs and ensuring that no one experiences disadvantage or discrimination 

due to their background or identity. 

 

We recognise that sustained change takes time and cannot be achieved in isolation, this 

is why we are working in partnership with other public sector organisations in the county 

borough to strive towards our vision to become a fairer county borough, promoting 

opportunities for all and making real and tangible differences to the lives of the people 

in our communities. 

 

By producing this this plan and objectives, we will meet our statutory Public Sector 

Equality Duties under the Equality Act 2010 to advance equality, eliminate unlawful 

discrimination, victimisation, and harassment, and foster good community relations in 

our employment, policy, procurement, and service delivery functions. 

 

The objectives build on the progress we have made through previous plans, by nurturing 

an environment that recognizes and respects the diversity and uniqueness of 

individuals, regardless of their characteristics or backgrounds. 

 

Our Strategic Equality Plan and Objectives will not be implemented in isolation. They 

have been developed and will be delivered alongside our Participation and Engagement 

Strategy and Welsh Language Standards which sets out our commitment to achieving 

a more inclusive and equal future for all.  The objectives are also linked to our Corporate 

Plan 2023-28.  

 

Page 41

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/our-work/equality-and-human-rights-monitor/equality-and-human-rights-monitor-2023-wales-fairer
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/media/guoo2urs/11677o-bridgend-corporate-plan-23-28.pdf
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/media/guoo2urs/11677o-bridgend-corporate-plan-23-28.pdf


 

 4 

We value the contributions from everyone who has participated in the development of 

this set of objectives. 

 

If you would like to become involved and contribute to continuing to review our priorities 

that will reduce inequalities in Bridgend County Borough, please contact us (see page 

15 for details). 

 

Council Leader Huw David 

Chief Executive Mark Shephard 

  

Page 42



 

 5 

2. About us 

 

2.1  Bridgend County Borough is a diverse and vibrant area with 145,760 

residents and over three million annual visitors. As one of the county 

borough’s largest employers and service providers we recognise our unique 

role and influential position within the area and the contribution we can make 

to the development of inclusive and confident communities. 

 

 
 

2.2 We recognise as public service providers that we have a key role to play in 

making a real difference to people’s lives. Therefore, we will continue to strive 

to meet our vision which is to function as “One council working together to 

improve lives”. Achieving this will improve the quality of life of all those living 

and working in the county borough, as outlined in our Corporate Plan. 

 

2.3  Our new strategic equality objectives identify how we will strengthen and 

advance equality across Bridgend County over the next four years. For 

example, we will continue to embed equality throughout our organisation to 

ensure meaningful change is achieved. In order to support our staff achieve 

this, we provide corporate equality awareness training, which is mandatory 

not just for new starters but all members of the authority. In addition, Bridgend 

Council is committed to the ‘Disability confident employer scheme’, which 

encourages employers to think differently about disability and take action to 

improve recruitment and retention of disabled people, as well as developing 

them in the workplace. 

 

We would like to take this opportunity to thank everyone who has been 

involved in the engagement processes to develop our objectives and we look 

forward in continuing this journey with you throughout their delivery. 

Page 43

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/media/guoo2urs/11677o-bridgend-corporate-plan-23-28.pdf


 

 6 

 

3.  Purpose of the Strategic Equality Plan and Objectives 

 

3.1  Under the Equalities Act 2010, the Council has a statutory duty to prepare and 

publish a Strategic Equality Plan and Objectives every four years which must 

show how the Council can contribute to a fairer society by advancing equality 

and good relations in our day-to-day activities. 

 

3.2 The Equality Act provides protection against discrimination for nine protected 

characteristic groups as follows: 

 

Age 

A person belonging to a particular age group (so 38-year-olds would be an 

age group) or an age range (for example 16-24 year olds). 

 

Disability 

A person that has a physical or mental impairment which has a substantive 

and long-term effect on their ability to carry out day-to-day activities. 

 

Gender Reassignment 

The process in which a person transitions from one gender to another. This 

can be in any way they choose and does not need to involve medical 

intervention as it is a personal process. A reference to a transsexual person is 

a reference to a person who has the protected characteristic of gender 

reassignment. 

 

Marriage and Civil Partnership 

Marriage is a formally recognised union between two people, this can be a 

man or a woman or a same-sex couple. Same sex couples can also have 

their relationship recognised as a civil partnership. 

 

Pregnancy and Maternity 

Pregnancy is defined as the condition or period of being pregnant or 

expecting a baby. Maternity refers to the period after birth. 

 

Race 

Race includes colour, nationality and ethnic or national origins. In relation to 

the protected characteristic or race, this refers to a person who is of a 

particular racial group or to persons of the same racial group. 

 

Religion or belief 

Religion refers to any religion or lack of religion. Belief refers to any religious 

or philosophical belied of lack of belief. In order to constitute a belief it should 

Page 44



 

 7 

affect the way that you live your life. The characteristic refers to a person of a 

particular religion or belief or to persons who are of the same religion or belief. 

 

Sex 

This can refer to either male or female, or groups of men and women. 

 

Sexual Orientation 

Sexual orientation is a person’s sexual attraction towards their own sex, the 

opposite sex, or to both sexes. 

 

3.3  The Strategic Equality Plan and Objectives serve as a roadmap for advancing 

equality, eliminating discrimination, and fostering good relations. It aligns with 

the requirements of the Equality Act 2010 and demonstrates our commitment 

to promoting inclusion as well as serving as a tool for accountability, ensuring 

that we remain transparent and accountable in our efforts to promote equality 

and diversity. The SEP will be reviewed annually, to demonstrate progress 

against actions, incorporate new areas of work for the council, changes to 

legislation and the development of any new objectives for the duration of the 

plan. 

 

4. Statutory Duties 

 

The legal framework described in this section serves as the foundation for Bridgend 

Council's equality aims. 

 

 

4.1 The General Equality Duty  

The aim of the general equality duty is to ensure that we consider the needs 

of all individuals when carrying out our day-to-day work, in developing policy, 

in delivering services and in relation to the public and to our workforce. 

 

  

Page 45



 

 8 

The commitments of the general duty include: 

 

4.2 Welsh Language Commitment  

The promotion and use of the Welsh Language is covered by the 

requirements of the Welsh Language Measure 2011 rather than the Equality 

Act. However, in Bridgend Council we consider Welsh Language 

requirements alongside the protected characteristics of the Equality Act to 

encourage a co-operative approach to the needs of all communities in 

designing and delivering services. 

 

4.3 Socio-economic Duty  

The socio-economic duty came into force in Wales in 2021. It aims to improve 

decision making and help those who are socio-economically disadvantaged. 

Socio-economic disadvantage means having low savings or income 

compared to others in Wales, making it more difficult to access basic services 

and opportunities. This can lead to inequality of outcome, for instance lower 

levels of good health, lower paid work, poorer educational attainment and an 

increased risk of being a victim of crime. We need to understand how the 

decisions that we make may increase or reduce opportunities for people who 

are at socio-economic disadvantage. We do this by carrying out equality 

impact assessments, every time we create policies, programmes or make 

decisions that may impact our residents. 

 

4.4 The Specific Public Sector Equality Duties (Wales)  
In addition to meeting the general duty, public organisations including the 

council must meet the following specific duties: 

 

 Setting Equality Objectives and publishing a Strategic Equality Plan. 

 Engaging with people in relation to the protected characteristics. 

 Collecting and publishing information relevant to compliance with the General 

Duty. 

 Annual publishing of employment monitoring information. 

 Ensuring that our workforce know and understand our duty under the Equality 

Act. 

 Carrying out Equality Impact Assessments of relevant policies and practices 

 Addressing unfair pay differences. 

 Establishing relevant conditions to meet the general duty in procurement 

processes. 

 Reviewing progress on the Strategic Equality Plan and our Equality 

Objectives. 

Page 46



 

 9 

 The Strategic Equality Objectives will also support the Council in meeting 

other statutory duties set out within the Well-being of Future Generations 

(Wales) Act 2015 (see 4.5). 

 

4.5 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015  

 

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 is about improving the 

social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales. 

 

The Act strengthens existing governance arrangements for improving the well-

being of Wales to ensure that present needs are met without compromising the 

ability of future generations to meet their own needs. 

 

The Act states that public bodies must work to improve the wellbeing of Wales. 

We have to agree and publish a set of wellbeing objectives to tell you how we will 

contribute to the national wellbeing goals. To find out more information on our 

wellbeing objectives see our Corporate Plan. 

 

5. Welsh Government reports and data 
 

5.1  A number of Welsh Government strategies, reports and datasets have 

informed the development of this Strategic Equality Plan and Objectives to 

reflect what is happening on a national level, including: 

 

• Anti-Racism Wales Action Plan 

• LGBTQ+ Action Plan 

• Cymraeg 2050 Strategy 

• Well-being of Future Generations Act: Essentials Guide 

• National Survey for Wales 2022-23 

• Local Government Candidates Survey 2022 

• Labour Market Overview: December 2023 

• Labour Market Statistics (Annual Population Survey) 2022-23 

• ‘Locked out- liberating disabled people’s lives and rights in Wales beyond 

COVID-19’ Report 

• Affordable housing provision 2022-23 

• VAWDASV Strategy 2022-26 

• Is Wales Fairer? 2018 – Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC 

 

Data acquired from these have positively influenced our priorities, such as 

producing an LGBTQ+ action plan as well as an Anti-racist Wales action plan.  

These will sit under the objective to promote a more inclusive workforce for those 

with protected characteristics.  

Page 47

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/media/guoo2urs/11677o-bridgend-corporate-plan-23-28.pdf


 

6. Bridgend Council’s Equality Objectives 2024-2028 
 

The development of our objectives was shaped and agreed by our corporate 

equalities focus group. The purpose of the focus group is to provide strategic 

oversight for the Council’s responsibilities under the Public Sector Equality Duty and 

the Well-being and Future Generations Act: 

 

Equality Objective 1 – Access to services 

Improve the experience and outcomes for our customers, ensuring that every 

resident has equity of access to the services that they need. 

 

Equality Objective 2 – Protecting the most vulnerable 

Establish comprehensive policies and procedures that effectively safeguard and 

support the rights and well-being of our most vulnerable populations, including 

children, the elderly, people with disabilities, those experiencing homelessness or 

poverty and those that access care and support from Social Services. 

 

Equality Objective 3 - Living Standards 

Tackle poverty and support independent living by considering the impact of any 

policy changes or decisions under the socio-economic duty. Consideration to vital 

services such as Housing and homelessness, cost of living crisis and the adverse 

effects on individuals. 

 

Equality Objective 4 – Participation and engagement 

Encourage people and communities to take part and engage in issues that are 

important to them and influence the decisions that affect their lives. Building and 

increasing quality relationships with communities to ensure a focus on what matters 

to them. 

 

Equality Objective 5 – Learning 

Promote equal access to quality learning for all students, regardless of their 

socioeconomic background, abilities, age or ethnic background. Support diversity, 

equity, and inclusion. 

 

Equality Objective 6 – Employment 

Promote a more inclusive workforce and improve the participation, well-being, and 

opportunities for development for those with protected characteristics.

 

 

 

 

 

Page 48



 

 11 

7. Developing our equality objectives 

 

The council's equality objectives were informed by the legislative and planning 

framework set out in sections five and six above.  In addition to this we: 

 

7.1  Conducted a consultation and engagement exercise with the public, partners 

and equality and diversity groups. We asked for their views on the draft 

objectives for 2024-2028 and asked them to make comments to help us 

develop our action plan.  During the consultation we engaged with 400 people 

who shared their views with us.  Most respondents agreed with the proposed 

objectives, which we have now finalised based on this feedback. 

 

7.2  Took into account the information that is shared in local equality and diversity 

groups and via the Bridgend Community Cohesion and Equality Forum. 

Topics include the accessibility of our services and how we can help support, 

promote and raise awareness of issues such as hate crime and LGBTQ 

History Month.   

 

7.3  Aligned the equality objectives with the council’s Corporate Plan 2023-28, 

which already identifies the council’s priorities and how we will work alongside 

local people and partners to provide services over the next five years. The 

corporate plan sets out the Council’s seven Wellbeing Objectives which are: 

 A County Borough where we protect our most vulnerable  

 A County Borough with fair work, skilled, high-quality jobs and thriving 

towns  

 A County Borough with thriving valleys communities  

 A County Borough where we help people meet their potential  

 A County Borough that is responding to the climate and nature emergency  

 A County Borough where people feel valued, heard and part of their 

community.  

 

This provided us with the opportunity to focus our objectives on priority areas 

that had already been identified following the corporate plan consultation. This 

includes protecting our most vulnerable, which was a common theme 

identified in the feedback from both the corporate plan consultation and the 

Strategic Equalities Plan objectives consultation. 

 

7.4 In addition, we reviewed our Strategic Equality Plan 2020 – 2024 and our 

action plan for this period and considered our progress to date.  This gave us 

an opportunity to review the positive work that has been carried out to 

become a more inclusive organisation.  This includes: 

 Running regular Hate Crime awareness sessions across the county borough 

in partnership with South Wales Police.  

Page 49

file:///C:/Users/edwarzj/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/6KBF2U35/Corporate%20Plan


 

 12 

 Development of an Education and Engagement Team by Education and 

Family Support that provides integrated support for a range of pupils identified 

by Estyn as vulnerable or potentially vulnerable.  

 Identifying physical wellbeing opportunities, social opportunities and working 

with Awen libraries to provide creative and wellbeing support. 

 Maintained our Disability Confident Employer status. 

 Continuously reviewing our internal processes such as staff training. We are 

committed to recruiting Welsh speakers, disabled people, people who identify 

as LGBTQ+ and people from minority ethnic backgrounds as part of our 

commitment to address under-representation across all levels of the 

organisation. 

 

8. Next Steps 
 

8.1 We will develop an outcome focussed Strategic Equality Action Plan which 

will outline: 

 The actions we are seeking to progress under each of our objectives 

which will make a positive difference to residents and employees’ lives. 

 When we expect to achieve these actions. 

 Who is responsible for taking the actions forward. 

 How we will measure our success. 

 

8.2  Building on the work we have carried out in our previous Strategic Equality 

Plan, we will continue to work with our partners to provide a range of services 

for people within our communities. We will continue to work with the police to 

identify and tackle hate crime within our communities, strengthen collection and 

analysis of data for discriminatory incidents in schools and ensure our residents 

can participate in consultations through a variety of formats, including face to 

face interactions. 

 

8.3 We will use the information and feedback from the Strategic Equality Objectives 

consultation to support the development of our action plan. The action plan will 

be finalised in the summer of 2024 and added to this plan as appendix C.  

  

Page 50



 

 13 

9. Delivery of objectives 

 

9.1  Successful delivery of our objectives requires strong leadership which is 

driven primarily by the Future Generations and Well-being Cabinet Member, 

our Chief Executive and council Leader. 

 

9.2 Progress on our Strategic Equality Plan is regularly reported to the Corporate 

Equality Network. Our group of Equality Champions was established to 

ensure that the organisation considers and promotes equality across the 

board, and it has an important role in monitoring our strategic equality plan 

and objectives.  

 

9.3  Responsibility for operational delivery rests with all service areas and teams 

within the authority. Each Corporate Director and Head of Service ensures 

their employees have the appropriate skills and knowledge of equality that are 

required. Our Cabinet Committee Equalities monitors delivery against the 

objectives and scrutinises information available to ensure we identify and 

implement new strategies and objectives appropriately. 

 

9.4 Our main area of focus in monitoring progress is to undertake further, regular 

consultation and engagement with all protected characteristic groups. We are 

mindful that our most reliable measure of success of our equality objectives is 

via our residents, service users and employees. 

 

10. Assess the impact or potential impact on protected groups? 

 

10.1  We are committed to assessing the impact of new and existing policies, 

practices and procedures on all equality groups by conducting appropriate 

equality impact assessments. Our Equality Impact Assessment page is 

available on the council’s Website 

 

10.2 We have also produced an Equality Impact Assessment toolkit which is a 

practical guide for service managers to use to assess the likely impact of their 

functions, policies and procedures on different groups of people. Additionally, 

staff are encouraged to undertake the corporate training module. 

 

11. How to contact us: 

Comments and suggestions to help us improve and best perform as an equal 

opportunities’ organisation can be submitted at any time to the: Equalities and 

Engagement Team, Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB 

E-mail: equalities@bridgend.gov.uk  

Phone: 01656 643664 

 

Page 51

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/my-council/equality-and-diversity/
mailto:equalities@bridgend.gov.uk


 

 14 

Accessible formats 

If you would like this publication in an alternative format and/or language, 

please contact us. All publications are also available to download and order in 

a variety of formats from our website. 

 

 

Page 52



 

 
Meeting of:  

 
CABINET 

 

 
Date of Meeting:  

 
14 MAY 2024 

 

 
Report Title:  

 
FEES AND CHARGES POLICY 

 

 
Report Owner / 
Corporate Director:  

 

 
CHIEF OFFICER – FINANCE, HOUSING AND CHANGE 

Responsible 
Officer:  

DEBORAH EXTON 
DEPUTY HEAD OF FINANCE 

 
 

Policy Framework 
and Procedure 
Rules:  

There is no impact on the policy framework and procedure 
rules. 

Executive 
Summary:  
 

• The latest Fees and Charges Policy was approved by 

Cabinet in October 2021. 

• This report provides an updated Policy to reflect 

changes in approach to the setting of fees and charges 

since this date, notably the flexibility around the timing 

of fees and charges increases, and the Council’s 

commitment as part of the Medium Term Financial 

Strategy (MTFS) to recover the cost of services via fees 

and charges where it is able to do so. 

 

 
1. Purpose of Report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek approval from Cabinet for an updated Fees and 

Charges Policy.  
  

2. Background  
 
2.1 On 19 October 2021 Cabinet approved a revised Fees and Charges Policy to ensure 

a consistent approach was being adopted across the Council with regard to the 
setting of fees and charges, including sections on how and when fees and charges 
would be set, the method to be used for increasing fees and charges, and processes 
to follow where it was proposed not to increase fees and charges. Alongside this 
would be an annual publication on the Council’s webpages outlining all of the 
Council’s fees and charges for the coming year.   

 
3. Current situation / proposal  
 
3.1 Since 2021 the Council’s financial position has become more challenging, and this  

Page 53

Agenda Item 5



 

was set out in detail in the Medium Term Financial Strategy 2024-25 to 2027-28, 
which was approved by Council on 28 February 2024. 

 
3.2 As part of the budget setting process for the years ahead the Council committed to 

the following principle: 
 

•  The Council will seek to recover the cost of services via fees and charges where 
it is able to do so.  

 
As such all services were encouraged to aim for full cost recovery, except where there 
was a conscious decision not to, consistent with Council priorities. 
 

3.3 The level of inflation has fluctuated widely during the last financial year, with the 
Consumer Price Index (CPI) changing from 10.1% in March 2023 to 3.2% in March 
2024. As a result of these large changes in CPI the Council may need to be more 
flexible in terms of the dates and frequency with which it reviews its fees and charges, 
rather than a standard annual review. 

 
3.4 As a result of this more flexible approach to full cost recovery, the Fees and Charges 

Policy has been updated and a tracked changes version attached at Appendix A, 
with a clean version attached at Appendix B.  
 
 

4. Equality implications (including Socio-economic Duty and Welsh Language) 
 
4.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic Duty 

and the impact on the use of the Welsh Language have been considered in the 
preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales the Council must consider the 
impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies, 
strategies, services and functions. This report is an overarching charging policy, 
therefore it is not necessary to carry out an Equality Impact Assessment in the 
production of this report. Individual service managers will be required to undertake 
an Equality Impact Assessment if they propose changes to their individual, service 
specific, charging proposals.  

 
4.2 The overarching policy does require service managers to consider areas where 

services should be subsidised, including concessions for target groups. 
 
5. Well-being of Future Generations implications and connection to Corporate 

Well-being Objectives 
 
5.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of this 

report. It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable impacts upon 
the achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a result of this report. 

6. Climate Change Implications 

6.1 There are no climate change implications arising from this report. 

7. Safeguarding and Corporate Parent Implications 

7.1 There are no safeguarding or corporate parent implications arising from this report. 

Page 54



 

 

8.  Financial Implications  
 
8.1 This policy clarifies the important role that charging and income generation has in 

supporting the Medium Term Financial Strategy going forward. 

 
9. Recommendation 

 
9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet approves the updated Fees and Charges Policy at 

Appendix B. 

 
 

 
 
Background documents 
 
None 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 
 

FEES AND CHARGES POLICY 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

October 2021May 2024 

APPENDIX A 

Page 57



 

1 
 

 

 

Contents Page No. 
 

1.  Introduction 2 

2. Purpose 2 

3. Key Principles 2 

4.  When to Charge     34 

5. Setting of Fees and Charges 4 

6. Subsidies and Concessions 6 

7. Reviewing Fees and Charges 7 

8. Administration of Fees and Charges 89 

9. Publication of Fees and Charges 9 

  

 

Contents 

 

Page 58



 

2 
 

1. INTRODUCTION  
 
1.1 Income from fees and charges represent an important source of funds to the 

Council, and enable it to provide a wider range of services to the County 
Borough than it would otherwise be able to do so. The decision to charge for 
local public services impacts upon everyone. Where councils charge for 
services, users pay directly for some or all of the costs of the services they use. 
Where no charges are made, or where charges do not recover the full cost of 
providing a service, council taxpayers subsidise users.    

 
1.2 Currently the Council charges for a range of services, the income from which 

provides a significant contribution of (around 307%) to the Council’s gross 
revenue budget. Decisions on whether to charge (and the amount to charge) 
are not always within the control of the Council. Where they are controlled 
locally, however, it is important that the implications of the charging decisions 
being taken are fully understood and that the appropriate information is 
available to make informed decisions.     

 
 
2. PURPOSE 
 
2.1 This policy exists to clarify the important role that charging and income 

generation has in supporting the Medium Term Financial Strategy. It provides a 
clear and consistent approach to charging across the Council. Its key aims are:  

 

• to create a consistent and coordinated approach to charging, that is 
applied across services;  

 

• to set out a clear framework within which fees and charges levied by the 
Council are agreed and regularly reviewed. 

 

• to outline the key principles for charging by Bridgend County Borough 
Council; 

 

• to set out the annual review process for all discretionary charges. 

2.2 This policy also provides guidance to managers on how to cost services, the 
annual inflation increases, concessions and exemptions, and the processes to 
be followed for reviewing, approving and publishing of the fees and charges. 
 

 
 
3. KEY PRINCIPLES 
 
3.1 For some services charges are mandatory, and the fee is set nationally, whilst 

for other services the Council is expressly prohibited from charging. Therefore, 
a basic assumption is that the Council will apply and collect statutory charges 
as appropriate and further consideration is therefore outside of the scope of this 
document.  

 
3.2 However discretionary fees and charges represent an important source of 

revenue, providing finance for activity that is designed to achieve the Council’s 

Page 59



 

3 
 

objectives. Nevertheless, there is a potential conflict between raising revenue, 
promoting access and the usage of services whilst considering the challenges 
of poverty and social exclusion that exist within the Borough and also the 
effects on local taxpayers.  

 
3.3 This is particularly important with the new Socio-Economic Duty, which came 

into force on 31 March 2021 and which requires specified public bodies, when 
making strategic decisions such as deciding priorities and setting objectives, to 
consider how their decisions might help reduce the inequalities associated with 
socio-economic disadvantage.  

 
3.4 A consistent and informed approach to charging across the different services of 

the Council will enable this conflict to be reconciled and managed in the 
interests of achieving the Council’s objectives. All discretionary charges will be 
covered by this policy. 

 
3.5 One of the budget principles being applied when setting the budget for the 

Council is: 
 
 The Council will seek to recover the cost of services via fees and charges 

where it is able to do so. 
 
 By generating additional revenue, where the Council is able to do so, and from 

those who can afford to pay for the services, the Council is able to continue to 
provide a wider range of services to residents of the county borough. 

 
3.65 The Local Government Act 2003 gave local authorities the general power to 

charge for discretionary services. Discretionary services are those services that 
an authority has the power but not a duty to provide. This covers those services 
which are not covered by any other legislation with the following restrictions: 

 

• the income from charges for a service should not exceed the cost of 
providing that service (over a “reasonable” but unspecified period, e.g. 3 
years); 

 

• the recipient of the service must have agreed to its provision and agreed 
to pay for it; 

 

• different people and/or organisations may, where it is fair to do so, be 
charged different amounts.  

 

3.76 As well as discretionary services, there are also statutory services that the 
Council has to provide, for which the Council is allowed to generate income, in 
particular where there are additions or enhancements to such statutory services 
above the level or standard that an authority has a duty to provide.  
 

3.78 Specific decisions and charging policies should support delivery of the 
Council’s Corporate Plan and Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS), along 
withand other local strategies and service objectives. Charging decisions will 
take account of the council’s corporate well-being objectives and have regard 
for the potential impact on other service areas. 

Page 60



 

4 
 

 
 
4. WHEN TO CHARGE 
 
4.1 Whenever future consideration is given to funding sources for specific services, 

it will be expected that the Council will charge for services, except where a 
clear decision is taken not to do so for one of the reasons given below. In 
particular, charges should be levied to support Council corporate well-being 
objectives and to encourage behaviour change of our customers. 

 
 
4.2 Reasons for not charging are: 
 

a. There is a legal or statutory reason forbidding the levy of charges. 
b. The Council has entered into other contractual arrangements which 

prevent the levy of charges. 
c. The costs incurred as a result of collecting a charge would be greater than 

the income generated. 
d. The potential risks to the Council incurred as a result of charging outweigh 

the benefits. Introducing a charge would result in a high risk that: 
 

▪ There would be a significant fall in demand and as a result the Council 
would not achieve one or more of its corporate well-being objectives 
as defined in the Corporate Plan or the cost of doing so would 
become prohibitively expensive. 

▪ The reputation of the Council would be significantly damaged. 
▪ Charging would change behaviour of customers resulting in a high 

likelihood that costs would be incurred elsewhere in the business 
Council which would be greater than the income generated. 

 
 
5. SETTING OF FEES AND CHARGES 
 
5.1 Charges should be set using clear and transparent evidence and knowledge to 

support the level of charge. Each fee or charge (or group of similar charges) 
should be linked to one of the charging strategies set out in Table 1 below and 
the appropriate charging strategy adopted in establishing and reviewing 
charging rates for that particular service or activity.  

 
5.2 In all cases, in determining an appropriate charging strategy proper 

consideration should be given to the wider equality implications that could affect 
accessibility of Council services to any groups. 

 
5.3 The objectives of different charging strategies are as follows: 
 

Table 1: Charging Strategies 
 
Charging Strategy Objective 

Full Commercial 
Charges 

The Council will aim to cover the cost of providing the service 
and make a surplus that can be used to fund other priority 
services.  
 

Page 61



 

5 
 

The full cost of the service, including an element for capital 
financing costs, support services and corporate overheads, will 
be the starting point for calculating charges. 

Full Commercial with 
Discounts 

As above, but with discounted concessions being given to  
enable disadvantaged groups to access the service. 

Full Cost Recovery In this instance, the Council wishes to make the service 
generally available but does not wish to allocate its own 
resources to the service.  
 
The cCouncil will aim to recover the costs of providing this 
service from those who use it. The full cost of the service, 
including an element for capital financing costs (where 
appropriate), support services and corporate overheads, will be 
the starting point for calculating charges.  

Cost Recovery with 
Discounts 

As above, but the cCouncil is prepared to subsidise the  
service to ensure disadvantaged groups have access to  
the service. 

Subsidised Council policy is to make the service widely accessible, but  
believe users of the service should make some contribution from 
their own resources. 
 
This might be to meet a service objective or allow competition 
with other providers. 

Free The Council may choose to make the service available at no 
charge to meet a service objective - cost of service will then met 
by all Council Tax payers. 

Statutory Charges will be determined in line with legal requirements 
 
5.4 Where new charges are being introduced or changes in charging strategy are  
 proposed, the charging strategy should be made clear as part of the decision 

making process. However, when determining specific charges, it is appropriate 
to take into account some or all of the following: 

 

• Encouraging specific activities and use of certain services; 

• Discouraging some undesired activities and frivolous demands for a 
service;  

• Ensuring regulatory compliance; 

• Whether the Council wishes to act as a supplier of last resort;  

• Contributing to long-term sustainability of some activities or services; 

• Local market factors;  

• Consideration of charges for similar services raised by other local 
authorities or private sector competitors; 

• Whether in some cases reduced charges should be available to some 
groups to promote inclusion; 

• Whether discounts (for example age related charges) or promotion (for 

• example seasonal charges) will be offered; 

• Whether scope exists to increase take-up through more effective 
marketing and publicity and the form that this might take. 

 
5.5 Some of the specific issues that need to be considered for each of the charging 

strategies are set out in Table 2 below: 
 
 Table 2: Charging Strategy Considerations 
 

Page 62



 

6 
 

Charging Strategy Strategy Considerations 

Full Commercial 
Charges 

• Are the charges high enough for the service to be 
profitable? If not, consider whether the service should 
be provided.  

• Are competitors charging similar prices?  

• Does the cCouncil offer any premium in terms of 
service levels that customers would be prepared to pay 
more for?  

• How would changes in pricing structures affect demand 
for the service and potentially its profitability?  

• How does the proposed fee structure fit in with the long 
term business plan for the service? 

Full Cost Recovery • Do charges recover the full costs, including overheads, 
capital financing charges and corporate recharges? 

• Is it possible to charge on a full commercial basis and if 
so has the loss of income from not charging on a full 
commercial basis been evaluated?  

• Are Members aware of the effect on demand for this 
service from this charging policy?  

• What would be the effect of changing the policy to a 
different one e.g. subsidised? 

Subsidised • Has the cost of the subsidy been evaluated?  

• What has been the impact on demand and on service 
levels from adopting this approach?  

• Does this approach fit in with the requirements of other 
funding streams i.e. grants?  

• Is this approach legally required?  

• Is there a potential problem from frivolous use of the 
service? 

Free 

Statutory • Are charges in line with statutory requirements? 

• Are they set at the maximum permitted levels? 

 
5.6 If the income from a service does not meet its costs, this should be as a result 

of a conscious decision, consistent with cCouncil well-being objectives. The 
service will then be subsidised by Council Tax payers.  

 
 
6. SUBSIDIES AND CONCESSIONS 
 
6.1 It may be appropriate to consider subsidising some services, particularly if this 

helps to achieve corporate objectives and supports local strategies and 
policies. Some of the main reasons for charging less than full cost include: 
 
▪ The desire to encourage particular sections of the community to use 

specific services and they could not afford, or might otherwise be deterred 
by, full cost charges. 

▪ Use of the service is sensitive to a change in price – an increase in 
charges reduces demand and income. 

▪ The cCouncil incurs higher costs than other providers because the service 
is provided in a way that is appropriate and accessible for all sectors of the 

Page 63



 

7 
 

community.  
 

 
6.2 Charges should be set at a level that is fair to service users and Council Tax 

payers. Concessions may be available to those determined to be unable to pay 
the full charge. The impact on service users of charging increases should be 
considered, particularly where they may impact disproportionally on particular 
groups of Council Tax payers. Impact assessments will be carried out to assess 
changes and where this is significant steps should be taken to minimise them. 

 
6.3 Charges for similar services should be consistent across the Council. 

Concessions for target groups should be applied consistently across the 
Council, where concessions are not mandatory (see below). 

 
6.4 There are two types of concessions:  
 

• mandatory concessions as determined by statute; and  

• discretionary concessions which are wholly within the power of the 
Council. 

 
6.5 The principle of recovering full costs through charging for all services wherever 

it is possible to do so applies to concessions. Therefore, concessions will not 
be provided unless: 

 

• There is a legal or statutory reason expressly stating the need to provide a 
concession. These mandatory concessions will be provided in line with 
national guidelines. 

 

• The cost of the concession can be estimated and can be accommodated 
within the Council’s budget, making it affordable. 

 

• Target groups (e.g. those in receipt of means-tested benefits) would be 
disadvantaged or would not be able to access the service without a 
concession, and as a result the Council would not achieve its corporate well-
being objectives as defined in the Corporate Plan. 

 
6.6 It is recognised that in some circumstances concessions may not be 

appropriate and that, in all cases, it will be necessary to carefully consider the 
impact on income before introducing discounts or concessions to service areas 
which do not currently offer them. 

 
 
7. REVIEWING FEES AND CHARGES 
 
7.1 Charges will be reviewed annually as a minimum, as an integral part of the 

MTFS and budget and service planning processes. However, charges can also 
be reviewed on a more frequent basis, should circumstances change e.g. 
increase in cost to provide the service. 

 
7.2 The annual review process will take into account the following: 
 

•  Costs increases, inflationary or otherwise, to ensure these are adequately 

Page 64



 

8 
 

 reflected in the charges. The general assumption will be that the value of 
fees and charges should be maintained in real terms over time, and 
increased annually in line with estimated inflation.  

 

 This means that, in general, charges should be increased by the 
Consumer Price Index (CPI). 

 
 (For annual increases Tthe appropriate CPI increase date will be that for 

December November prior to the start of the financial year, as set out in 
the Medium Term Financial Strategy. CPI increases at other times during 
the year may be used where the increase is not being implemented at the 
start of the financial year) 

 
•  Benchmarks from comparator authorities. 
•  Legislative changes, either restricting or providing new flexibility or 

freedom to charge. 
•  Change in Council policy or priorities as determined in the MTFS where 

charges  or concessions could be introduced, varied or removed to 
support these priorities. 

•  Change in service provision or level of provision, which may result in 
additional or increased charges. 

•  New and improved methods of collecting payments reducing the cost and 
 increasing the effectiveness of doing so. 
•  Changes to any reasons not to charge. 
•  Changes to any reasons for a decision taken not to recover the full costs 

of a service through charges or the provision of concessions. 
•  Other new or changed social, community, economic or environmental 

pressures that will affect charging or individuals’ and groups’ ability to pay. 
•  The level of income raised in previous years. 
•  Changes in user demand and the impact of this on service levels. 
 
 

7.3 Under the Council’s Delegated Powers Scheme (Scheme A, paragraph 1.6) 
each Cabinet Member has the authority: 

 

To approve, subject to the budget process: 
 
(i)   Fees and charges for new services in accordance with any relevant charging 
  policy approved by the Cabinet; and  
 
(ii)  All fees and charges which are in accordance with any relevant charging 

policy approved by the Cabinet and which are necessary to reflect either 
inflation or other increases in costs. 

 
7.4 Where a service manager proposes not to increase charges for a particular 

service for a financial year, then they should set out the reasons why they 
should not be increased and seek approval from their Director and the Section 
151 Officer prior to the start of the financial year.  

 
7.5 Where increases in fees and charges, or new charges, support MTFS savings 

proposals, this will be made clear in the MTFS report presented to Cabinet and 
Council prior to the start of the financial year. Individual service managers will 

Page 65



 

9 
 

be responsible for undertaking equality impact assessments in respect of new 
or changed fees and charges, not in line with the Fees and Charging Policy, 
and presenting reports to Cabinet or Council as appropriate.  

 
7.6  Where charges will not made for a service or are set below the full cost 

recovery level, the reasons should be reconsidered annually as part of the 
annual Medium Term Financial Strategy process to ensure that they remain 
valid and that significant income is not being foregone. The cCouncil 
recognises that, for some services, the costs may have been historically under-
recovered and a period of adjustment towards full cost recovery may be 
required.   

 
 
8. ADMINISTRATION OF FEES AND CHARGES 
 
 
8.1 The Council will use simple, practical and efficient methods of collecting 

charges. The basic principles for administering fees and charges will be: 
 

• Charges should be simple to understand and administer; 

• Charges should be well promoted so that service users can clearly 
understand the charging structure and methods of payment before they 
become liable to pay; 

• Where possible methods of payment should be flexible, convenient and 
take into account the needs of disadvantaged/vulnerable groups in the 
community; wherever possible online payment should be encouraged; 

• Where possible and practicable payment should be made prior to the 
service being received or at the point of delivery; 

• Invoices should be issued promptly and appropriate collection and 
recovery procedures followed; 

• Documentation should be retained to substantiate that the customer 
accepted liability of the charge to support any debt recovery action 
required should payment not be received. 

 
8.2 The Council will take a fair but firm stance on debt recovery. Service users and 

Council Tax payers should not expect to subsidise services whilst others avoid 
paying. Service managers should ensure that the Council’s debt recovery policy 
is properly followed and enforced. 

 
 
9. PUBLICATION OF FEES AND CHARGES 
 
9.1 Each service should maintain a schedule of fees and charges levied, in a 

format agreed by the S151 Officer. This schedule should include, but identify 
separately, those charges where there are national / external procedures or 
other specific procedures for determining and reviewing rates of charge. They 
should be widely published, including through the Council’s website, which will 
display an amalgamated version of all fees and charges for the Council.  

 
 
9.2  In gGenerally the Council’s fees and charges should be set prior to the start of 

each financial year. They should be widely published, including through the 

Page 66



 

10 
 

Council’s website. However, this can be done more frequently or at different 
times during the year where required, and in line with the Fees and Charges 
Policy.  

 
9.3  Reasonable notice should be given to service users before any decisions to 
 amend or introduce new fees and charges are implemented, together with clear 
 advice on VAT, and information on any discounts or concessions available. In 
 the absence of any specific requirements, reasonable notice is defined broadly 
 as one calendar month. 

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 
 

FEES AND CHARGES POLICY 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

May 2024 

APPENDIX B 

Page 69



 

1 
 

 

 

Contents Page No. 
 

1.  Introduction 2 

2. Purpose 2 

3. Key Principles 2 

4.  When to Charge     4 

5. Setting of Fees and Charges 4 

6. Subsidies and Concessions 6 

7. Reviewing Fees and Charges 7 

8. Administration of Fees and Charges 9 

9. Publication of Fees and Charges 9 

  

 

Contents 

 

Page 70



 

2 
 

1. INTRODUCTION  
 
1.1 Income from fees and charges represent an important source of funds to the 

Council, and enable it to provide a wider range of services to the County 
Borough than it would otherwise be able to do so. The decision to charge for 
local public services impacts upon everyone. Where councils charge for 
services, users pay directly for some or all of the costs of the services they use. 
Where no charges are made, or where charges do not recover the full cost of 
providing a service, council taxpayers subsidise users.    

 
1.2 Currently the Council charges for a range of services, the income from which 

provides a contribution of around 7% to the Council’s gross revenue budget. 
Decisions on whether to charge (and the amount to charge) are not always 
within the control of the Council. Where they are controlled locally, however, it 
is important that the implications of the charging decisions being taken are fully 
understood and that the appropriate information is available to make informed 
decisions.     

 
 
2. PURPOSE 
 
2.1 This policy exists to clarify the important role that charging and income 

generation has in supporting the Medium Term Financial Strategy. It provides a 
clear and consistent approach to charging across the Council. Its key aims are:  

 

• to create a consistent and coordinated approach to charging, that is 
applied across services;  

 

• to set out a clear framework within which fees and charges levied by the 
Council are agreed and regularly reviewed. 

 

• to outline the key principles for charging by Bridgend County Borough 
Council; 

 

• to set out the review process for all discretionary charges. 

2.2 This policy also provides guidance to managers on how to cost services, the 
annual inflation increases, concessions and exemptions, and the processes to 
be followed for reviewing, approving and publishing of the fees and charges. 
 

 
 
3. KEY PRINCIPLES 
 
3.1 For some services charges are mandatory, and the fee is set nationally, whilst 

for other services the Council is expressly prohibited from charging. Therefore, 
a basic assumption is that the Council will apply and collect statutory charges 
as appropriate and further consideration is therefore outside of the scope of this 
document.  

 
3.2 However discretionary fees and charges represent an important source of 

revenue, providing finance for activity that is designed to achieve the Council’s 

Page 71



 

3 
 

objectives. Nevertheless, there is a potential conflict between raising revenue, 
promoting access and the usage of services whilst considering the challenges 
of poverty and social exclusion that exist within the Borough and also the 
effects on local taxpayers.  

 
3.3 This is particularly important with the Socio-Economic Duty, which came into 

force on 31 March 2021 and which requires specified public bodies, when 
making strategic decisions such as deciding priorities and setting objectives, to 
consider how their decisions might help reduce the inequalities associated with 
socio-economic disadvantage.  

 
3.4 A consistent and informed approach to charging across the different services of 

the Council will enable this conflict to be reconciled and managed in the 
interests of achieving the Council’s objectives. All discretionary charges will be 
covered by this policy. 

 
3.5 One of the budget principles being applied when setting the budget for the 

Council is: 
 
 The Council will seek to recover the cost of services via fees and charges 

where it is able to do so. 
 
 By generating additional revenue, where the Council is able to do so, and from 

those who can afford to pay for the services, the Council is able to continue to 
provide a wider range of services to residents of the county borough. 

 
3.6 The Local Government Act 2003 gave local authorities the general power to 

charge for discretionary services. Discretionary services are those services that 
an authority has the power but not a duty to provide. This covers those services 
which are not covered by any other legislation with the following restrictions: 

 

• the income from charges for a service should not exceed the cost of 
providing that service (over a “reasonable” but unspecified period, e.g. 3 
years); 

 

• the recipient of the service must have agreed to its provision and agreed 
to pay for it; 

 

• different people and/or organisations may, where it is fair to do so, be 
charged different amounts.  

 

3.7 As well as discretionary services, there are also statutory services that the 
Council has to provide, for which the Council is allowed to generate income, in 
particular where there are additions or enhancements to such statutory services 
above the level or standard that an authority has a duty to provide.  
 

3.8 Specific decisions and charging policies should support delivery of the 
Council’s Corporate Plan and Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS), along 
with other local strategies and service objectives. Charging decisions will take 
account of the council’s corporate well-being objectives and have regard for the 
potential impact on other service areas. 

Page 72



 

4 
 

 
 
4. WHEN TO CHARGE 
 
4.1 Whenever future consideration is given to funding sources for specific services, 

it will be expected that the Council will charge for services, except where a 
clear decision is taken not to do so for one of the reasons given below. In 
particular, charges should be levied to support Council corporate well-being 
objectives and to encourage behaviour change of our customers. 

 
 
4.2 Reasons for not charging are: 
 

a. There is a legal or statutory reason forbidding the levy of charges. 
b. The Council has entered into other contractual arrangements which 

prevent the levy of charges. 
c. The costs incurred as a result of collecting a charge would be greater than 

the income generated. 
d. The potential risks to the Council incurred as a result of charging outweigh 

the benefits. Introducing a charge would result in a high risk that: 
 

▪ There would be a significant fall in demand and as a result the Council 
would not achieve one or more of its corporate well-being objectives 
as defined in the Corporate Plan or the cost of doing so would 
become prohibitively expensive. 

▪ The reputation of the Council would be significantly damaged. 
▪ Charging would change behaviour of customers resulting in a high 

likelihood that costs would be incurred elsewhere in the Council which 
would be greater than the income generated. 

 
 
5. SETTING OF FEES AND CHARGES 
 
5.1 Charges should be set using clear and transparent evidence and knowledge to 

support the level of charge. Each fee or charge (or group of similar charges) 
should be linked to one of the charging strategies set out in Table 1 below and 
the appropriate charging strategy adopted in establishing and reviewing 
charging rates for that particular service or activity.  

 
5.2 In all cases, in determining an appropriate charging strategy proper 

consideration should be given to the wider equality implications that could affect 
accessibility of Council services to any groups. 

 
5.3 The objectives of different charging strategies are as follows: 
 

Table 1: Charging Strategies 
 
Charging Strategy Objective 

Full Commercial 
Charges 

The Council will aim to cover the cost of providing the service 
and make a surplus that can be used to fund other priority 
services.  
 

Page 73



 

5 
 

The full cost of the service, including an element for capital 
financing costs, support services and corporate overheads, will 
be the starting point for calculating charges. 

Full Commercial with 
Discounts 

As above, but with discounted concessions being given to  
enable disadvantaged groups to access the service. 

Full Cost Recovery In this instance, the Council wishes to make the service 
generally available but does not wish to allocate its own 
resources to the service.  
 
The Council will aim to recover the costs of providing this service 
from those who use it. The full cost of the service, including an 
element for capital financing costs (where appropriate), support 
services and corporate overheads, will be the starting point for 
calculating charges.  

Cost Recovery with 
Discounts 

As above, but the Council is prepared to subsidise the  
service to ensure disadvantaged groups have access to  
the service. 

Subsidised Council policy is to make the service widely accessible, but  
believe users of the service should make some contribution from 
their own resources. 
 
This might be to meet a service objective or allow competition 
with other providers. 

Free The Council may choose to make the service available at no 
charge to meet a service objective - cost of service will then met 
by all Council Tax payers. 

Statutory Charges will be determined in line with legal requirements 
 
5.4 Where new charges are being introduced or changes in charging strategy are  
 proposed, the charging strategy should be made clear as part of the decision 

making process. However, when determining specific charges, it is appropriate 
to take into account some or all of the following: 

 

• Encouraging specific activities and use of certain services; 

• Discouraging some undesired activities and frivolous demands for a 
service;  

• Ensuring regulatory compliance; 

• Whether the Council wishes to act as a supplier of last resort;  

• Contributing to long-term sustainability of some activities or services; 

• Local market factors;  

• Consideration of charges for similar services raised by other local 
authorities or private sector competitors; 

• Whether in some cases reduced charges should be available to some 
groups to promote inclusion; 

• Whether discounts (for example age related charges) or promotion (for 

• example seasonal charges) will be offered; 

• Whether scope exists to increase take-up through more effective 
marketing and publicity and the form that this might take. 

 
5.5 Some of the specific issues that need to be considered for each of the charging 

strategies are set out in Table 2 below: 
 
 
 

Page 74



 

6 
 

 Table 2: Charging Strategy Considerations 
 
Charging Strategy Strategy Considerations 

Full Commercial 
Charges 

• Are the charges high enough for the service to be 
profitable? If not, consider whether the service should 
be provided.  

• Are competitors charging similar prices?  

• Does the Council offer any premium in terms of service 
levels that customers would be prepared to pay more 
for?  

• How would changes in pricing structures affect demand 
for the service and potentially its profitability?  

• How does the proposed fee structure fit in with the long 
term business plan for the service? 

Full Cost Recovery • Do charges recover the full costs, including overheads, 
capital financing charges and corporate recharges? 

• Is it possible to charge on a full commercial basis and if 
so has the loss of income from not charging on a full 
commercial basis been evaluated?  

• Are Members aware of the effect on demand for this 
service from this charging policy?  

• What would be the effect of changing the policy to a 
different one e.g. subsidised? 

Subsidised • Has the cost of the subsidy been evaluated?  

• What has been the impact on demand and on service 
levels from adopting this approach?  

• Does this approach fit in with the requirements of other 
funding streams i.e. grants?  

• Is this approach legally required?  

• Is there a potential problem from frivolous use of the 
service? 

Free 

Statutory • Are charges in line with statutory requirements? 

• Are they set at the maximum permitted levels? 

 
5.6 If the income from a service does not meet its costs, this should be as a result 

of a conscious decision, consistent with Council well-being objectives. The 
service will then be subsidised by Council Tax payers.  

 
 
6. SUBSIDIES AND CONCESSIONS 
 
6.1 It may be appropriate to consider subsidising some services, particularly if this 

helps to achieve corporate objectives and supports local strategies and 
policies. Some of the main reasons for charging less than full cost include: 
 
▪ The desire to encourage particular sections of the community to use 

specific services and they could not afford, or might otherwise be deterred 
by, full cost charges. 

▪ Use of the service is sensitive to a change in price – an increase in 
charges reduces demand and income. 

Page 75



 

7 
 

▪ The Council incurs higher costs than other providers because the service 
is provided in a way that is appropriate and accessible for all sectors of the 
community.  
 

 
6.2 Charges should be set at a level that is fair to service users and Council Tax 

payers. Concessions may be available to those determined to be unable to pay 
the full charge. The impact on service users of charging increases should be 
considered, particularly where they may impact disproportionally on particular 
groups of Council Tax payers. Impact assessments will be carried out to assess 
changes and where this is significant steps should be taken to minimise them. 

 
6.3 Charges for similar services should be consistent across the Council. 

Concessions for target groups should be applied consistently across the 
Council, where concessions are not mandatory (see below). 

 
6.4 There are two types of concessions:  
 

• mandatory concessions as determined by statute; and  

• discretionary concessions which are wholly within the power of the 
Council. 

 
6.5 The principle of recovering full costs through charging for all services wherever 

it is possible to do so applies to concessions. Therefore, concessions will not 
be provided unless: 

 

• There is a legal or statutory reason expressly stating the need to provide a 
concession. These mandatory concessions will be provided in line with 
national guidelines. 

 

• The cost of the concession can be estimated and can be accommodated 
within the Council’s budget, making it affordable. 

 

• Target groups (e.g. those in receipt of means-tested benefits) would be 
disadvantaged or would not be able to access the service without a 
concession, and as a result the Council would not achieve its corporate well-
being objectives as defined in the Corporate Plan. 

 
6.6 It is recognised that in some circumstances concessions may not be 

appropriate and that, in all cases, it will be necessary to carefully consider the 
impact on income before introducing discounts or concessions to service areas 
which do not currently offer them. 

 
 
7. REVIEWING FEES AND CHARGES 
 
7.1 Charges will be reviewed annually as a minimum, as an integral part of the 

MTFS and budget and service planning processes. However, charges can also 
be reviewed on a more frequent basis, should circumstances change e.g. 
increase in cost to provide the service. 

 
7.2 The review process will take into account the following: 

Page 76



 

8 
 

 
•  Costs increases, inflationary or otherwise, to ensure these are adequately 
 reflected in the charges. The general assumption will be that the value of 

fees and charges should be maintained in real terms over time, and 
increased in line with estimated inflation.  

 

 This means that, in general, charges should be increased by the 
Consumer Price Index (CPI). 

 
 (For annual increases the appropriate CPI increase date will be that for 

November prior to the start of the financial year, as set out in the Medium 
Term Financial Strategy. CPI increases at other times during the year may 
be used where the increase is not being implemented at the start of the 
financial year) 

 
•  Benchmarks from comparator authorities. 
•  Legislative changes, either restricting or providing new flexibility or 

freedom to charge. 
•  Change in Council policy or priorities as determined in the MTFS where 

charges or concessions could be introduced, varied or removed to support 
these priorities. 

•  Change in service provision or level of provision, which may result in 
additional or increased charges. 

•  New and improved methods of collecting payments reducing the cost and 
 increasing the effectiveness of doing so. 
•  Changes to any reasons not to charge. 
•  Changes to any reasons for a decision taken not to recover the full costs 

of a service through charges or the provision of concessions. 
•  Other new or changed social, community, economic or environmental 

pressures that will affect charging or individuals’ and groups’ ability to pay. 
•  The level of income raised in previous years. 
•  Changes in user demand and the impact of this on service levels. 
 
 

7.3 Under the Council’s Delegated Powers Scheme (Scheme A, paragraph 1.6) 
each Cabinet Member has the authority: 

 

To approve, subject to the budget process: 
 
(i)   Fees and charges for new services in accordance with any relevant charging 
  policy approved by the Cabinet; and  
 
(ii)  All fees and charges which are in accordance with any relevant charging 

policy approved by the Cabinet and which are necessary to reflect either 
inflation or other increases in costs. 

 
7.4 Where a service manager proposes not to increase charges for a particular 

service for a financial year, then they should set out the reasons why they 
should not be increased and seek approval from their Director and the Section 
151 Officer prior to the start of the financial year.  

 

Page 77



 

9 
 

7.5 Where increases in fees and charges, or new charges, support MTFS savings 
proposals, this will be made clear in the MTFS report presented to Cabinet and 
Council prior to the start of the financial year. Individual service managers will 
be responsible for undertaking equality impact assessments in respect of new 
or changed fees and charges, not in line with the Fees and Charging Policy, 
and presenting reports to Cabinet or Council as appropriate.  

 
7.6  Where charges will not made for a service or are set below the full cost 

recovery level, the reasons should be reconsidered annually as part of the 
annual Medium Term Financial Strategy process to ensure that they remain 
valid and that significant income is not being foregone. The Council recognises 
that, for some services, the costs may have been historically under-recovered 
and a period of adjustment towards full cost recovery may be required.   

 
 
8. ADMINISTRATION OF FEES AND CHARGES 
 
 
8.1 The Council will use simple, practical and efficient methods of collecting 

charges. The basic principles for administering fees and charges will be: 
 

• Charges should be simple to understand and administer; 

• Charges should be well promoted so that service users can clearly 
understand the charging structure and methods of payment before they 
become liable to pay; 

• Where possible methods of payment should be flexible, convenient and 
take into account the needs of disadvantaged/vulnerable groups in the 
community; wherever possible online payment should be encouraged; 

• Where possible and practicable payment should be made prior to the 
service being received or at the point of delivery; 

• Invoices should be issued promptly and appropriate collection and 
recovery procedures followed; 

• Documentation should be retained to substantiate that the customer 
accepted liability of the charge to support any debt recovery action 
required should payment not be received. 

 
8.2 The Council will take a fair but firm stance on debt recovery. Service users and 

Council Tax payers should not expect to subsidise services whilst others avoid 
paying. Service managers should ensure that the Council’s debt recovery policy 
is properly followed and enforced. 

 
 
9. PUBLICATION OF FEES AND CHARGES 
 
9.1 Each service should maintain a schedule of fees and charges levied. This 

schedule should include, but identify separately, those charges where there are 
national / external procedures or other specific procedures for determining and 
reviewing rates of charge. They should be widely published, including through 
the Council’s website, which will display an amalgamated version of all fees 
and charges for the Council  

 
 

Page 78



 

10 
 

9.2  In general the Council’s fees and charges should be set prior to the start of 
each financial year. However, this can be done more frequently or at different 
times during the year where required, and in line with the Fees and Charges 
Policy.  

 
9.3  Reasonable notice should be given to service users before any decisions to 
 amend or introduce new fees and charges are implemented, together with clear 
 advice on VAT, and information on any discounts or concessions available. In 
 the absence of any specific requirements, reasonable notice is defined broadly 
 as one calendar month. 

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
Meeting of:  

 
CABINET 

 

 
Date of Meeting:  

 
14 MAY 2024 

 
Report Title:  

 
RENEWAL OF THE REGIONAL INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICE 

PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT 
 

 
Report Owner / 
Corporate Director:  

 

 
 

CHIEF OFFICER – FINANCE, HOUSING AND CHANGE 

Responsible 
Officer:  

                 
CARYS LORD 

CHIEF OFFICER, FINANCE, HOUSING AND CHANGE 
 
 

Policy Framework 
and Procedure 
Rules:  

There is no impact on the policy framework and procedure 
rules 

Executive 
Summary:  
 

The purpose of this report is to seek approval from Cabinet 
to renew the existing Regional Internal Audit Service (RIAS) 
Partnership Agreement.  

 
1. Purpose of Report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek approval from Cabinet to the proposal that: 

 

o the existing Regional Internal Audit Service (RIAS) Partnership Agreement should 

be renewed, with the Vale of Glamorgan Council continuing as host authority to 

reinforce business resilience. 

 

o three of the original partners continue with the arrangement and sign a new 

Partnership Agreement - the partners being Vale of Glamorgan, Bridgend and 

Merthyr Tydfil Councils. 

 

o the Partnership Agreement runs continually with a formal partner review built in 

every five years. Each partner can terminate their involvement with the regional 

shared service in compliance with the terms outlined in the relevant section of the 

Partnership Agreement. 

 

o allows additional partners to join the RIAS as equal partners subject to RIAS Board 

approval. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 81

Agenda Item 6



 

2. Background  
 
2.1 Councils have a track record of innovation, of delivering efficiencies and of serving 

communities well.  However, with the all too familiar and long-established increasing 

need to do more with less, Councils need to respond, showing how they are able to 

protect communities and the services they value while ensuring the best possible value 

for money during a continuing period of financial challenge and uncertainty. 

 

2.2 Sharing services, where possible, enables Councils to do this by reducing duplication 

of effort and expenditure, thereby freeing up money from back office processes to be 

spent on improving front-line services. In recent years, collaborative working activity 

has increased at pace in response to the challenging financial climate and also in 

recognition of the value that working in partnership to share skills, expertise and 

experience can have in tackling increasingly complex issues. 

 

2.3 The provision of Internal Audit is recognised by all Councils as core to their effective 

governance, risk management and control arrangements. The requirement for 

Councils to maintain appropriate and effective internal audit arrangements is set out 

in the Accounts and Audit (Wales) Regulations 2018 and prior to these the Accounts 

and Audit (Wales) Regulations 2014.  As Councils seek to ensure that systems and 

processes are as efficient as possible, it is imperative that the Internal Audit Service 

can provide the objective assurances required by elected members and senior officers 

regarding the effectiveness of the systems of internal control, governance and risk 

management. 

 

2.4 The Bridgend and Vale of Glamorgan Internal Audit Shared Service was fully 

operational under a formal Partnership Agreement from February 2013, as both 

Authorities had experienced the advantages of the Shared Service.  Since its inception 

the Shared Service has delivered consistently against the approved annual risk-based 

audit plans and achieved the necessary coverage in order to issue a robust, evidence 

based audit opinion at the end of each year as well as fully complying with its statutory 

requirements under the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS).  In addition, 

significant benefits have been realised by bringing the sections together, some of 

which included effective use of the total audit resource, knowledge sharing and 

harmonising working practices and systems. 

 
2.5 On 1st April 2019 the Regional Internal Audit Service (RIAS) was formed, bringing 

together the Internal Audit teams from Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

(MTCBC), Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council (RCTCBC) and the existing 

Shared Internal Audit Service for Bridgend and the Vale of Glamorgan Councils.  

 

2.6 The objectives of the RIAS were to: 

 

 Deliver a robust internal audit service that meets the needs of participating 

Councils and complies with legislative requirements. 

 Provide increased resilience and offer a wider range of internal audit 

specialisms (IT / contract audits) across the four Local Authorities. 

Page 82



 

 Develop a commercial emphasis within the Service that is able to tender for 

work from other organisations. 

 Deliver efficiency savings for each Member authority. 

2.7 The vision for RIAS is to be the provider of Internal Audit Services of choice to the 

public sector in South Wales and be a centre of excellence for public sector internal 

auditing. It is to be a service that is regarded as: 

•   Professional 

•   Approachable 

•   Flexible 

•   Independent but internal to the organisation – a critical friend. 

 
2.8 A new legal Partnership Agreement was entered into by the four Councils for five years 

in 2019. The original Partnership Agreement was for partners to sign up for three years 

with an option to extend to two years at a time. RIAS has now been in operation for 

five years and the position needs to be reviewed.  

 
3. Current situation / proposal  
 
3.1 The Shared Service has developed well since its inception, is meeting its objectives 

and continues to move forward to achieve greater effectiveness and efficiencies. The 

Section 151 (s151) Officers from the four member authorities have been very positive 

about the internal audit provision and the level and quality of service received, as 

have the members of each Governance and Audit Committee. 

3.2 In January 2024 the host authority, Vale of Glamorgan, was notified by RCTCBC that 

the Council had decided not to continue in the Partnership from April 2024. The 

reason given was that, due to the challenges they were facing, it has been agreed it 

was opportune for the Council to reconsider the position and take the opportunity to 

take back the service and resource it internally, to align with other key areas of work 

which they plan to concentrate on over the next few years.  

3.3 Despite RCTCBC not being involved with the Partnership moving forward, the 

management of the service has determined that this will not hinder achieving the 

Partnership’s ambitions and objectives and will continue to strive towards being the 

provider of Internal Audit Services of choice to the public sector in South Wales and 

a centre of excellence for public sector internal auditing. 

 
3.4 The remaining s151 Officers have suggested that the Partnership should move 

forward on a longer term agreement basis and the option considered is a continual 

agreement to include a formal partner review at least every five years. Each partner 

will still have the option to opt out of the agreement as specified within the terms of 

the agreement itself. S151 Officers of the three Councils are comfortable with this 

proposal and see it as a positive continuation of the collaboration of the internal audit 

provision between the three partner Councils. 

 

Page 83



 

3.5 One aim of the service since its inception has been to expand to provide quality and 

specialist audit services to other public sector organisations. As the service is now 

well established, the RIAS Board considers the service is now well placed to consider 

partnering with other local authorities in the South Wales area. Without canvassing 

for additional partners to join RIAS, three South Wales local authorities have 

expressed an interest in joining the existing arrangement with two of those being keen 

to join during 2024/25. Other public sector organisations have also approached RIAS 

about providing an internal audit service to them on a contractor / client basis. 

3.6 These proposals were discussed and agreed by the Governance and Audit 

Committee on 18th April 2024. 

4. Equality implications (including Socio-economic Duty and Welsh Language) 
 
4.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic Duty 

and the impact on the use of the Welsh Language have been considered in the 
preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales the Council must consider the 
impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies, 
strategies, services and functions. It is considered that there will be no significant or 
unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report.  

 

5. Well-being of Future Generations implications and connection to Corporate 
Well-being Objectives 

 
5.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of this 

report. It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable impacts upon 
the achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a result of this report. The proposal 
supports the 5 ways of working under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) 
Act 2015 as follows: 

 
Long Term – the proposal is for the new Partnership Agreement to be on a longer 
term basis with a partner review built in every 5 years.  
 
Prevention – the proposal will help to protect local authorities by ensuring systems 
and processes are as efficient as possible, risk is mitigated, and the Council’s assets 
are safeguarded. 
 
Integration – the Shared Service is involved in, and reviews, all aspects of the 
Council’s activities and enables best practice to be shared across the partner 
authorities.  
 
Collaboration – the proposal recommends the continued collaboration between 
three partner authorities, with the potential for this to be extended further. 
 
Involvement – staff from across the three authorities within the RIAS are involved in 
auditing the three partner authorities, and will liaise with service managers and staff 
from across this and the partner organisations to form an opinion on the Council’s 
governance arrangements. 
 

 
 
 

Page 84



 

6. Climate Change Implications  
 
6.1 There are no climate change implications arising from this report. 

 
7. Safeguarding and Corporate Parent Implications 
 
7.1 There are no safeguarding or corporate parent implications arising from this report. 
 
8.  Financial Implications  
 
8.1 RIAS delivers an agreed number of audit days to each partner on an annual basis in 

order to deliver the internal audit plan and enable the Head of the RIAS to provide an 

overall annual opinion on the effectiveness and adequacy of the governance 

arrangements, internal controls and risk management processes in place at each 

partner. The allocated audit days are based on a full establishment of staff within the 

service and per partner. The planned days for Bridgend Council in 2023/2024 were 

1,101. 

8.2 Each partner makes a financial contribution to the total running costs of providing 

RIAS based on the number of days allocated to them multiplied by the daily charge 

rate. Where the full number of audit days are not delivered to partners the RIAS Board 

decides whether to make a refund to each partner or a contribution to RIAS reserves. 

8.3 The number of days and the financial contribution was agreed within the original 

Partnership Agreement for 2019/20. It was agreed that the number of days allocated 

to each partner would remain static for at least the first three years of operation to 

ensure the successful delivery of an effective, economic and efficient internal audit 

service to each partner, which would support achieving the Shared Service’s 

objectives. The audit days allocated to each partner has primarily remained static for 

the five years of the Shared Service’s existence.  Any adjustments to the audit days 

allocated impacts on the financial contribution made by each partner but still needs 

to cover the overall cost of providing the RIAS. 

8.4 Bridgend Council’s budget for the RIAS in 2023/2024 was £287,130. The proposed 

contribution for 2024/2025 is £317,760. However, this does not take into account the 

agreed saving as part of the Medium Term Financial Strategy 2024-25 to 2027-28 of 

£27,000, agreed by Council on 28th February 2024, which will likely impact upon the 

number of planned audit days for Bridgend in 2024/2025. How this will be realised 

will be subject to discussion by the Section 151 officer and the Head of the Regional 

Internal Audit Service. 

8.5 Moving forward there should be greater efficiencies for all partners through 

economies of scale with further development of specialist auditors working across all 

partners.  

 
9. Recommendations 

 
9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet approves: 
 

Page 85



 

 The renewal of the existing Regional Internal Audit Service (RIAS) Partnership 

Agreement, with the Vale of Glamorgan Council continuing as host authority, to 

reinforce business resilience. 

 

 That three of the original partners continue with the arrangement and sign a new 

Partnership Agreement - the partners being Vale of Glamorgan, Bridgend and 

Merthyr Tydfil Councils. 

 

 That the Partnership Agreement runs continually with a formal partner review built in 

every five years.   

 

 The proposal to allow additional partners to join the RIAS as equal partners subject 

to RIAS Board approval. 

 

 That the approval of the final terms of agreement for the RIAS is delegated to the 

Chief Officer – Finance, Housing and Change in consultation with the Chief Officer – 

Legal and Regulatory Services, HR and Corporate Policy. 

 
Background documents:  None 
 
 

Page 86



 

 
Meeting of:  

 
CABINET 

 

 
Date of Meeting:  

 
14 MAY 2024 

 

 
Report Title:  

 
 TERMS OF REFERENCE FOR STANDING ADVISORY 

COUNCIL ON RELIGIOUS EDUCATION (SACRE)/STANDING 
ADVISORY COUNCIL (ON RELIGION VALUE AND ETHICS) 

(SAC)  
 

 

 
Report Owner / 
Corporate Director:  

 

 
LINDSAY HARVEY CORPORATE DIRECTOR – EDUCATION, 

EARLY YEARS AND YOUNG PEOPLE 
 

Responsible 
Officer:  

 
SUE ROBERTS 

GROUP MANAGER SCHOOL SUPPORT 
 

Policy Framework 
and Procedure 
Rules:  

 
There is no effect upon the policy framework or procedure rules 

Executive 
Summary:  
 

 
This report contains information about the revised terms of 
reference for the Standing Advisory Council on Religious 
Education (SACRE) to become Standing Advisory Council (on 
Religion Value and Ethics) (SAC)  
 

 
1. Purpose of Report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform Cabinet that ratification is needed for the 

revised terms of reference for Standing Advisory Council on Religious Education 
(SACRE)/Standing Advisory Council (on Religion Value and Ethics) (SAC) ((refer to 
Appendix 1). 

 
2. Background  
 
2.1 The introduction of the Curriculum and Assessment (Wales) Act 2021 (‘the Act’) 

established the Curriculum for Wales in law and replaced the previous curriculum 
(which includes, for example, the national and local curricula set out in Part 7 of the 
Education Act 2002). 

 
2.2  The Curriculum and Assessment (Wales) Act 2021 Act sets out ‘Religion, Values 

and Ethics’ (RVE) as one of the mandatory subjects which spans the 3 to 16 
learning continuum.  

 
2.3 The subject of RVE forms part of the Humanities Area of Learning and Experience 

within the new Curriculum for Wales. Subject specific guidance on RVE contained 
within the Humanities Area of the Curriculum for Wales, is statutory and is 

Page 87

Agenda Item 7



 

published under section 71 of the Act. The guidance is designed to assist those 
responsible under the Act for designing the RVE syllabus as part of the school 
curriculum. 

 
2.4 The Curriculum and Assessment (Wales) Act 2021 legislation states some 

legislative changes for the roles and responsibilities of local authority SACs for 
RVE.  

 
2.5 Until the roll-out of the Curriculum for Wales is completed in all schools and 
 settings, there is a need to have both SACRE and SAC. SACRE will completely 
 cease to exist once the Curriculum for Wales has completed its roll-out. The 
 wording within the terms of reference has been amended to include both the roles 
 and responsibilities for SACRE and SAC. 
 
2.6 The inclusion in the Curriculum and Assessment (Wales) Act 2021 (the Act), of the 

appointment of persons to the committee who represent holders of non-religious 
philosophical beliefs in the same way as they permit the appointment of persons 
who represent holders of religious beliefs has meant required amendments to the 
existing SACRE terms of reference wording. It now includes the following:  

 

‘Such Christian and other religious denominations as, in the opinion of the local 

authority will appropriately reflect the religious traditions in the area and also such 

persons who represent holders of non-religious beliefs in the same way as they 

permit the appointment of persons who represent holders of religious beliefs’ 

(section 390(4)(a) of, and paragraph 4(2)(1) of Schedule 31 to, the 1996 Act and in 

accordance with the Curriculum and Assessment (Wales) Act 2021).’ 

3. Current situation / proposal  
 
3.1 SACRE and SAC members are recommending that the local authority accept the 

changes, so they are in line with the legislative changes in the Curriculum and 

Assessment (Wales) Act 2021 (the Act).  

 
3.2 SACRE and SAC members are recommending that the local authority agrees the 

terms of reference (as at Appendix 1). 
 
4. Equality implications (including Socio-economic Duty and Welsh Language) 
 
4.1  The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-Economic 

Duty and the impact on the use of the Welsh Language have been considered in 
the preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales the Council must consider 
the impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies, 
strategies, services, and functions.  

 It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable equality impacts 
because of this report. 

 
5. Well-being of Future Generations implications and connection to Corporate 

Well-being Objectives 
 

Page 88

https://hwb.gov.wales/curriculum-for-wales/summary-of-legislation/#religion,-values-and-ethics


 

5.1  The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Assessment provides a 
comprehensive summary of the outcomes expected from the implementation of the 
service.  

 
Long-term Supports the improvement of standards and outcomes in schools. 

Prevention  Development of the terms of reference for SAC will allow 
refinement of the delivery of RVE across all schools within the 
Humanities Area of Learning within the Curriculum for Wales.  
 

Integration The local authority will attend SAC meetings to support and 
advise where necessary.  
 

Collaboration The local authority works closely with schools and with Central 
South Consortium to support the implementation of RVE within 
the Curriculum for Wales.   
 

Involvement Stakeholders included within SAC include religious/non-religious 
representatives; school leaders; local authority and Central South 
Consortium representatives along with leaders of RVE in schools. 
  

6. Climate Change Implications  
 
6.1 There are no climate change implications about this information report.    

 
7. Safeguarding and Corporate Parent Implications 
 
7.1 There are no safeguarding or corporate parent implications about this information 

report.   
 
8.  Financial Implications  
 
8.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 
 
9. Recommendations 

 
9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet notes the content of this report and ratifies the revised 

terms of reference. 
 
 
Background documents 
 
There are no background documents. 
 

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



v1.0 

Page 1 of 4 
 

 
Bridgend County Borough Council  
 
Standing Advisory Council on Religious Education/Standing Advisory Council 
on Religion, Values and Ethics 
 
Revised to coincide with the implementation of Curriculum for Wales from 
2022-2023 school year onwards. 
 
The Standing Advisory Council on Religious Education (SACRE) in Bridgend is 
established in accordance with sections 390-397 of the Education Act 1996 and 
guidance contained in the Welsh Circular 10/94 as updated. In addition, the Standing 
Advisory Council on Religion, Values and Ethics (SAC) in Bridgend is established in 
accordance with the Curriculum and Assessment (Wales) Act 2021 (see Annex 1). 
 
Constitution 
 
Terms of reference 
 
1. To advise the local authority on matters connected with collective worship in 

county schools. 
 

2. To advise the local authority on matters connected with religious education, or 
religion, values and ethics which is given in accordance with the agreed 
syllabus. 
 

3. To decide when, within the five-year statutory time scale, the local authority 
should review its agreed syllabus. 
 

4. To consider with the local authority and the Agreed Syllabus Conference any 
changes required to the agreed syllabus. 
 

5. To consider, with the local authority, the support offered to religious education 
and religion, values and ethics in its schools, with particular regard to methods 
of teaching, the choice of teaching materials and the provision of training for 
teachers. 
 

6. To offer advice on any other matters related to its function as it sees fit. 
 

7. To publish an annual report on its work, which should: 
 

 specify any matters on which it has advised the local authority; 

 broadly describe the nature of the advice; 

 set out its reasons for offering advice on any matters which were not 
referred to it in the first place by the local authority; and 

 record the membership of SAC/SACRE and the dates of meetings held. 
 
8.  To participate in the local authority’s statutory complaints procedures in those 

instances where the complaints relate to religious education or religion, values 
and ethics and/or collective worship. 
 

Page 91



v1.0 

Page 2 of 4 
 

9. To receive and make determinations in respect of applications from 
headteachers of county schools for the lifting or modifying of the requirements 
that collective worship in such schools must be wholly or mainly of a broadly 
Christian character. 

 
Composition 
 
10.  The council shall comprise three groups representing: 
 

 such Christian and other religious denominations as, in the opinion of the 

local authority will appropriately reflect the religious traditions in the area 

and also such persons who represent holders of non-religious beliefs in 

the same way as they permit the appointment of persons who represent 

holders of religious beliefs; (section 390(4)(a) of, and paragraph 4(2)(1) 

of Schedule 31 to, the 1996 Act and in accordance with the Curriculum 

and Assessment (Wales) Act 2021); 

 such associations representing teachers as, in the opinion of the local 
authority, ought to be represented having regard to the circumstances of 
the area; and 

 the local authority. 
 
11.  The Council may also co-opt members. 

 
12.  Membership of the Council shall be for a period of four years. Any outgoing  
       members may be re-appointed. 

 
13. Membership of the Council is subject to the condition that the local authority 

has taken all reasonable steps to assure itself that the persons appointed are 
representative of the denominations, organisations, associations in question.  

 
14.  Members representing associations of teachers must include teachers of 

religious education and/or religion, values and ethics. 
 

15.  Individuals may be removed from the Council if they cease to be 
representative of the denomination, organisations, association, or of the 
authority they were appointed to represent. 

 
16.  Any member of the Council may at any time resign their office. 
 

17.     Any member who fails to attend three consecutive meetings without apology   

          will cease to be a member. An individual who is so disqualified shall not be  

          precluded from being reappointed by the appropriate nominating body.  

 
Proceedings 
 
18.   The local will appoint a clerk to SACRE/SAC. 
 
19.  The Council meets on, at least, one occasion during each school term.  
 

Page 92



v1.0 

Page 3 of 4 
 

20.   The Council shall elect from its membership a chairperson and vice 
chairperson at the first meeting in each school year. The chairperson and vice 
chairperson in any one year shall not be drawn from the same representative 
group. An outgoing chairperson may be re-appointed. 

 
21.  If both the chairperson and the vice-chairperson are absent from a meeting, a 

person to take the chair for the meeting shall be appointed upon the collective 
consent of the members present at the meeting.  Should the chairperson or 
vice-chairperson arrive during the rest of the meeting, the appointed substitute 
will hand over to them as soon as the item under discussion on their arrival is 
completed. 

 
22.  On any question to be decided by the Council only the representative groups 

on the Council shall be entitled to vote, and each group shall have a single 
vote. Before a formal vote is taken, opportunity shall be given to each 
representative group to determine how its vote is to be cast.   

 
23.  Co-opted members are not entitled to vote. 

 
24.  The agenda for each meeting shall be determined by the chairperson and vice 

chairperson in consultation with the advisor to SAC/SACRE, clerk to 
SAC/SACRE, and Local Authority Professional Officer. Any voting member of 
SAC/SACRE shall be entitled to propose items for an agenda. 

 
25.  The SACRE/SAC may, if it so wishes, arrange the attendance at a meeting of 

a specialist speaker who is not a member of the SACRE/SAC. 
 
26.  Each or any of the representative groups may require the attendance of a 

specialist speaker who is not a member of the SACRE/SAC, but only for the 
period during which any relevant matter is under consideration and provided 
that at least ten working days’ notice of such requirement is given to the clerk 
for inclusion in the agenda for the meeting. 

 
27.  In the case of any member not being able to attend a Council meeting, a 

substitute may be nominated by the body which that person represents, 
provided that the substitute meets the eligibility criteria and the Education and 
Family Support Directorate is notified in advance of the meeting. 

 
28.  A meeting of the Council will be deemed to be quorate if at least one member 

of each of the three representative groups is present. 
 

29.  The validity of proceedings of the Council shall not be affected: 
 

 by a vacancy in the office of any member of the Council; or 

 on the grounds that a member of the Council appointed to represent any 
denomination or association does not, at the time of the proceedings, 
represent the denomination, organisation or association in question. 

 
30.  The representative groups on the Council, other than that representing the 

local authority, may call, at any time, for a review of the agreed syllabus 
current in the local authority. At such time, an Agreed Syllabus Conference 
shall be constituted and convened. 

Page 93



v1.0 

Page 4 of 4 
 

 
31.  The Council shall consider its annual report at the first meeting to be held in 

each academic year. Upon the Council’s ratification of the report, it shall 
proceed to publication. 
 

32.  The clerk to the SAC/SACRE shall arrange for copies of the annual report to      
be published on the local authority website, sent to all schools within the local 
authority to Welsh Government and such other individuals and institutions as 
the local authority sees fit. 

 
ANNEX 1 
 
The Standing Advisory Council on Religion, Values and Ethics (SAC) 
 
The constitution, functions and working arrangements of Bridgend SAC shall follow 
those of Bridgend SACRE, as stated above. The two committees will coexist until 
2025 and for the efficiency and integrity of both committees, meetings will be held at 
the same time, with all business dealt with as appropriate to each committee.  
 
These arrangements will continue until the Curriculum for Wales has been 
implemented to all relevant year groups, at which time Bridgend SACRE will be 
dissolved and Bridgend SAC will continue.   
 
 

Page 94



 

 
Meeting of:  

 
CABINET 

 

 
Date of Meeting:  

 
14 MAY 2024 

 

 
Report Title:  

 
PROPOSED CHANGES IN COUNCIL REQUIREMENTS 

REGARDING CULTURAL SERVICES 
 

 
Report Owner / 
Corporate Director:  

 
CORPORATE DIRECTOR, SOCIAL SERVICES & WELLBEING  

Responsible 
Officer:  

                
ANDREW THOMAS 

GROUP MANAGER- PREVENTION AND WELLBEING 
 

Policy Framework 
and Procedure 
Rules:  

 
THERE ARE NO CHANGES TO POLICY FRAMEWORK AND 

PROCEDURE RULES 
 

 
Executive 
Summary:  
 

 
The report provides information on proposed changes in 
Council requirements to services that are delivered by Awen on 
the Councils behalf. This report aligns to the required processes 
within the partnership agreement whereby, having considered 
a range of options, the Council submits a notice of change to 
Awen to identify any implications including cost or financial 
efficiencies that can be delivered from those changes if 
implemented. The proposed changes that Bridgend County 
Borough Council (BCBC) has put forward include the availability 
and related investment into library services. This can include 
opening hours of premises but also investment into resources 
used to run the service. At a National level the Welsh Public 
Library Standards are used to review service performance by 
Welsh Government. The proposals have also considered 
whether the Books on Wheels service that supports home 
delivery of resources to more vulnerable residents can be 
sustained when the Council is faced with current financial 
challenges. The report identifies other areas of potential 
savings that include the relocation of supported training for 
adults known to social care to a single site at Bryngarw Park 
and also the disinvestment into Bridgend Youth Theatre. Due to 
the libraries having a statutory function the report requires 
Cabinet approval to commence consultation on initial 
reductions to services and also the development of the next 
library plan recognising that a range of developments and 
changes have taken place since 2010.There will be a need to 
report back to Cabinet on any outcomes and to seek approval 
to implement any subsequent proposals. 
 

 

Page 95

Agenda Item 8



 

1. Purpose of Report  
 
1.1 The report identifies the proposed reductions in Council investment into a range of 

cultural services which is delivered through the partnership with Awen Cultural Trust 
(Awen) and the related reductions in services that will need to be considered in order 
to achieve the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) budget reduction proposals 
approved by Council when the budget was approved on the 28th February 2024. 
 

1.2 The report seeks Cabinet approval to progress the immediate legal notices to enact 
contract changes with Awen and to progress the required public consultation and 
engagement in relation to these identified immediate proposals as well as longer term 
changes to library service provision. 

2. Background  
 
2.1 Awen is an independent organisation and registered charity. The partnership 

between the Council and Awen was established in 2015 along with a legally binding 
partnership agreement and related conditions on how the partnership should operate. 
This includes detail on how any changes in requirements would need to be 
progressed. 

 
2.2     The partnership has worked very successfully to date. Services have improved and 

the financial savings associated with the partnership of over £775,000 have all been 
implemented and achieved. Since 2015, Awen has established itself as a leading 
cultural charity and has played a lead role in working with the Council to deliver capital 
improvements and also to broaden the range of services to reach more people. The 
Council’s approach has been highlighted as best practice and the jointly developed 
model has been commended by the recent Senedd Committee review of public 
leisure and library services. Successes include: 

 

 the delivery of library services that have performed well as evidenced in the 

Welsh Public Library Standards (WPLS) reviews by Welsh Government 

achieving the highest customer satisfaction rating in Wales. 

 

 Awen have progressively gained a number of Welsh Government capital 

investments to improve local library facilities. 

 

 redevelopment at Bryngarw Park as part of the Valleys Regional Park with 

improved facilities and visitor experience  

 

 a major capital investment programme at Maesteg Town Hall. 

 

 the proposed redevelopment of the Grand Pavilion is another significant 

capital project that has secured external investment of £18 million from the 

Levelling Up Fund . 

 

All of the above and other initiatives have benefited from Awen’s ability to attract 
external funds and re-investing its own resources generated through their business 
model. Since 2015, Awen has successfully attracted over £1.8m in external funding 

Page 96



 

and designated a further £400,000 of its own resources to supporting feasibility, 
design, delivery and the match funding of several projects.  

 
2.3      The financial challenges that the Council is now facing has meant that there has been 

a need for all service areas to identify areas where financial efficiencies can be made, 
and this has also included cultural services. The Medium Term Financial Strategy 
(MTFS) 2024-25 to 2027-28 approved by Council on 28th February 2024 identifies a 
further saving in 2024-25 of £360,000 to be made from the Council’s contribution to 
cultural service costs via its management fee. The need to consider reduced support 
for cultural services including libraries was included in the Council’s budget 
consultation for 2024-25 and 850 respondents were supportive of reductions in this 
area. The detail of what this might look like locally and in a performance context 
requires further consideration as it is for the Council to determine where service 
reductions, if necessary, would be focused.  

 
2.4   Within the partnership agreement it is for the Council to inform Awen where it wishes 

to seek changes or reductions in its service requirements. A change notice is issued 
to request further information on any implications that can be identified. This process 
also sets out to identify any costs that cannot be mitigated that may fall to the Council 
should such change be implemented – these include but are not limited to income 
loss, redundancy costs etc. Within the partnership agreement Awen are required to 
make reasonable endeavours to accommodate any changes requested by the 
Council within the existing operational budgets and to provide evidence that the trust 
has used reasonable endeavours to minimise any increase in costs and maximise 
any reduction in costs. The Council issued a change notice to Awen on the 9th 
February 2024 outlining a range of service reductions and based on responses 
received from Awen have been considering the implications. There has been ongoing 
dialogue in accordance with the partnership agreement and in recognition that Awen 
will have financial pressures of their own beyond the management fee that the 
Council provides to operate the services within the partnership agreement. 

 
2.5  The partnership agreement is specific in regard to responsibilities for library services 

and recognises that the Council retains a statutory duty under the Public Libraries 
and Museums Act 1964 to provide a comprehensive and efficient library service with 
a core library offer that is free at the point of use and open to all. The partnership 
agreement identifies that the Council also retains statutory duties under the Equality 
Act 2010 to fully consult with the local community in relation to any potential changes 
to access to library services, with particular regards to location, opening hours and 
access for people with disabilities. 

 
2.6  In relation to the above, the Council acknowledges that it is fully responsible for 

determining what is a “comprehensive and efficient” library service and for 
undertaking any consultation requirement arising from any proposed changes in 
library service. The Welsh Public Library Standards provide a framework of core 
entitlements and quality indicators to assist such a review. It is for the Council to 
ensure that this position is clear in relation to all consultation documents and also for 
the Council to resource any related consultation or engagement requirements. The 
Welsh Government use the Welsh Public Library Standards as a framework to 
measure whether local authorities are fulfilling their obligations against the act. 

 
 “The framework also enables me [the Minister] to assess provision and performance 

of Welsh public library services as part of my statutory duty under the Public Libraries 

Page 97



 

and Museums Act 1964” Connected and Ambitious Libraries: The sixth quality 
framework of Welsh Public Library Standards 2017-2020. 

 
2.7  Based on the scale of reduction in financial support being proposed there will be 

implications for future library services and facilities and as such there will be a need 
for the Council to progress related public consultation on proposed changes. 

 
2.8  The last significant library service review was reported to Cabinet on 5th October 2010 

although the establishment of the partnership with Awen in 2015 saw a review of the 
library service specification in terms of service delivery requirements at related 
facilities. The service has not stood still however and has continued to evolve over 
the last decade to meet changing local landscapes and customer needs. 

 
2.9  The 2010 review had proposed that the physical infrastructure of Bridgend libraries 

was unfit for purpose and a core statutory model based on 8 static libraries needed 
to be developed. This would see one library at Bridgend, Porthcawl, Pencoed, Pyle, 
Ogmore Valley, Garw Valley, Llynfi Valley and Valleys Gateway. The need for 
improvements in size of some facilities and quality of provision was identified as 
needed. The categorisation of libraries at the time were primarily based on size as 
follows – Category 1 (over 1000 sq. m), Category 2 (750-1000 sq. m), Category 3 
(500-750 sq. m), Category 4 (250-500 sq. m), Category 5 (100-250 sq. m) and 
Category 6 (under 100 sq. m).  It is generally accepted that the floor space ambitions 
set out in 2010 are not required to the same scale now as other features will be 
important in a library setting but the categorisation of libraries may still be useful in 
any future plan developments. 

 
2.10   Since 2010 there have been a number of notable improvements to infrastructure 

including the relocation of the Bridgend Town Library to enhanced facilities at 
Bridgend Life Centre, the redevelopment of the new Maesteg library within the 
renovated Maesteg Town Hall, improvement works at Pencoed, Porthcawl and Pyle 
libraries supported by Welsh Government, Council and Awen investment, and the 
relocation of the Pontycymer library to the Garw Valley Leisure Centre. The Ogmore 
Valley library facility is similarly co-located in the Ogmore Valley Life Centre although 
the service model differs to the core static libraries. 

 
2.11  The Valleys Gateway area was identified as requiring one Category 4 library space 

and currently has Aberkenfig library (Cat 4) and Sarn library (Cat 6). There is also the 
Betws library space which is a part time service close by(Cat 6). 

 
2.12   The 2010 review identified the potential for extra statutory services to be developed 

in partnership with local organisations who would be required to provide funding 
support based on developing related services to meet community needs. This was 
intended to be promoted to community councils and third sector organisations. To 
date there has only been St Brides Minor community council that have supported 
such an arrangement, but this has supported a valued service in a smaller community 
setting and as part of a broader community hub approach. 

 
2.13  Following on from the 2010 review there were library closures at Nantymoel, 

Blaengarw and Caerau. The mobile library service was curtailed in 2019 following a 
Cabinet report identifying the high cost of a replacement, purpose-built vehicle. This 
was replaced by the Books on Wheels service providing home delivery for the more 
vulnerable. In more recent times, and linked to external funding support, a range of 

Page 98



 

pop-up library opportunities and related events have also been developing and 
supporting smaller communities using UK Government Shared Prosperity funding 
which is short term. 

 
2.14  The 2010 review recommended ongoing reinvestment in book stock, ICT provision 

and also customer service related improvements. The 2022-23 Welsh Government 
review of library services in Bridgend ranked customer service relating to choice of 
books, customer care and ICT facilities as first in Wales but with total expenditure per 
capita on library services ranking 14th. We can conclude that the service delivered by 
Awen is funded as a mid-quartile service but achieving good outcomes and providing 
good value. 

 
2.15  The 2010 review identified the potential to develop digital approaches to library 

services that could increase their reach and to also be available for 24 hours a day. 
The need and demand for digital access saw escalation during the pandemic and 
Awen have continued to invest in digital resources whilst highlighting that the demand 
for hard copy resources remains. Digital issues of resources have continued to 
increase but also come at a cost in order to meet demand. 

 
2.16 It should be noted that the Council has for some time utilised its library services to act 

as Council Information Points and these venues are where many people go to for 
support in terms of digital access to information and to be connected. In recent times 
the role of libraries as social spaces that help combat isolation and to serve as warm 
hubs has been more visible also in regard to the more vulnerable. There are regular 
programmes supporting children, young people and families including after school 
support and digital access. The increased role of libraries as information and advice 
points should be considered as part of the decision-making process. Many services 
(e.g., blue badge applications, housing benefit forms) are now supported by libraries 
where front facing Council contact centre roles have reduced or moved to digital 
channels. 

 
2.17  Whilst the Council is now needing to review the level of investment it can sustain in 

regard to libraries and cultural services it should be noted that the progress that has 
been made over the past 14 years is evident and the service is not one in decline. 
Any proposed changes start from a positive position. 

  
3. Current situation / proposal 
 
3.1 The value of cultural and library services to local communities is recognised and 

understood but the financial position that the Council is facing means that financial 
efficiencies are sought across all areas of service. The Council was proactive in its 
approach to develop a partnership approach to delivering cultural services and this 
has already successfully delivered previous savings to the Council and also ensured 
that much of the risk in operating those services sits outside the Council. 

 
3.2  When the Council is looking to reduce its subsidy through the management fee, it is 

recognised that library services will always require a high level of support due to them 
being free at the point of service and non-income generating. Table 1 indicates the 
library service opening hours currently being operated and service usage. 

 
 

TABLE 1 – Library Opening Hours and Footfall for 2022-23 and 2023-24 

Page 99



 

 Weekly Hours 2022-23 2023-24 

Bridgend 57 106,172      127,492 

Maesteg 41   32,852          37,096 

Pencoed 41   19,088   26,620 

Porthcawl 41   52,966   52,608 

Pyle 51   50,965   64,349 

Aberkenfig 38   30,956   24,490 

Sarn 30*     5,925     6,125 

Betws 17     3,050     2,825 

Total 275 301,974 341,605 

 
*Note -Aberkenfig library was closed for an 8-week period for premises works in  
2023-24.     

*14 hours funded by St. Brides Minor Community Council. 
 
3.3  Table 2 provides some of the headline performance figures for the past two financial 

years whilst recognising that our library services deliver more support than the 
presented indicators below. 

 

TABLE 2 – Headline Performance Indicators* 

 2022-23 2023-24 

Adult Issues                  209,265      207,317 
 

Junior Issues                160,671       154,372 
 

Ebook/Audiobook          51,395        62,200 
 

Adult events 
attendances                  

17,551         25,052 
 

Child events 
attendances                     

39,401        47,619 
 

 
*  Aberkenfig library was closed for an 8-week period for premises works in 2023-24 

resulting in lower issues for the period  
 
3.4   There is a 2024-25 MTFS budget reduction proposal relating to the cultural services 

being delivered on the Councils behalf but also a recognition that there is a need to 
develop the next longer term plan for library services as the last review was in 2010 
and the related consultation and engagement processes will require time to be 
conducted properly. Based on recent commitments the Council has made regarding 
capital investments into cultural assets at Maesteg and Porthcawl, a longer term 
library plan may contribute to a broader cultural strategy that includes other facilities 
and services in due course. Welsh Government are consulting on a cultural strategy 
for Wales which would include library and other cultural services.  

 
3.5   The opening hours of libraries has been one area that the Council has been 

considering but based on the premise of trying to keep every library facility open to 
some extent. This can be more challenging to realise savings but does allow for 
potential to increase hours where budgets permit should the economic position 
improve in subsequent years. 

 

Page 100



 

3.6  The Council has commissioned the initial support needed to commence a review of 
what the longer-term strategy to deliver a “comprehensive and efficient” library 
service may look like and this will be followed by a more in-depth review following 
initial scoping works. This may take time, but the Council will still need to find savings 
in 2024-25 and an initial reduction in library opening hours will be required across the 
library estate whilst the longer term position is determined. 

 
3.7   Following initial discussions with Awen, one proposal for the shorter term would be 

to initially reduce total library opening hours by circa 60 hours per week across the 
library estate whilst recognising the next phase of the review may see more significant 
changes needed in terms of opening hours or possibly the number of library facilities 
that the Council can support. The initial reduction in hours alone will not be sufficient 
to deliver the levels of savings being requested for 2024-25. 

 
3.8  The detail as to the specific number of hours of reduction that would apply to each 

venue would need to be formalised but the indicative reductions are shown in Table 
3. The proposal also responds to recent User Survey responses which indicates a 
preference to include lunchtime opening where historically these would be closed 
across some libraries. These changes would need to be consulted on in regard to the 
specific locations in addition to the overall availability of access to a library service 
across Bridgend. The heritage service at Y Llynfi would also reduce by 3 hours. The 
initial reduction in hours of libraries would create £60-70k of savings in a full year. 

                                       

TABLE 3 Current Hours Proposed Hours  

Bridgend 57 41.5 

Maesteg 41 36.5 

Pencoed 41 34 

Porthcawl 41 36.5 

Pyle 51 34 

Aberkenfig 38 34 

Sarn 16 16 

Betws 17 17 

 
* Note-the Ogmore and Garw libraries are integrated in leisure centre operations. At 
Sarn, the Councils funding only supports a part time service of 16 hours with 14 
additional hours funded by St Brides Minor community council. 

 
3.9   The Council would be responsible for leading any agreed consultation process and 

any subsequent decision making for both the above shorter term proposed changes 
and anything more fundamental to follow. 

 
3.10   The book renewal fund is a part of the partnership agreement and this amounted to 

£172,000 in 2023-24. The Council is proposing to reduce the contribution by £50,000 
in 2024-25 although this position would not be sustainable within any longer-term 
plan. Awen indicate that to actually meet the WPLS book expenditure targets the fund 
would need to increase to nearer £320,000 which gives context to the short-term 
nature of the cut. The budget in Bridgend has been more focused on mid-quartile 
performance to date but rankings could drop further in year. Awen have highlighted 
that book prices have increased by 24% over a 7-year period and that investing in 
digital resources is also more costly due to licensing and renewals. This is a short-
term saving that Council may need to make in the absence of other options whilst 
recognising the need for a more sustainable approach. As with all of these changes, 

Page 101



 

the partnership agreement with Awen would need to be adjusted to reflect a lower 
performance ambition against the WPLS Framework. 

 
3.11  The Council has also been considering whether it can now afford to sustain the Books 

on Wheels service. This replaced the mobile library service that operated throughout 
the Borough. This service currently provides home delivery to 345 households over 
a 5-week rolling period with an average of 100 people per week supported. The 
majority of visits are single occupant although the service also supports some care 
and nursing home residents. Service users are generally referred based on being 
housebound or having limited mobility. The service also produces targeted resources 
for customers including audio resources for those with sensory impairment. 

 
3.12  The complete removal of this service would potentially create a saving of £66,000 but 

with the majority of the saving relating to staffing costs. Based on the nature of the 
service and the characteristics of service users the need for public consultation will 
apply and potentially the need to mitigate any detriment that is identified within a full 
equalities impact assessment. The availability of this service was used to mitigate the 
removal of the mobile library service when it was curtailed. 

 
3.13   There may be the potential to introduce a charge for this service by the Council which 

may help to reduce costs or to identify more community led opportunities to support 
people at home. 

 
3.14  There are further areas of savings being discussed with Awen including a joint 

approach to the remodelling of the successful B-Leaf and Wood-B trainee support 
service linked to adult social care. This would potentially require capital improvements 
and relocating all services on a single site. The Council has been supporting 
feasibility works on the capital aspects. It is likely that external investment would be 
required to support any capital works that would be required for any larger capital 
scheme. 

 
3.15  Within the change notice to Awen was a consideration to remove the subsidy value 

within the management fee supporting the Bridgend Youth Theatre (BYT) 
programme. Over 100 young people currently benefit from BYT, and it has a long 
history of supporting young people to participate in the performing arts, learning 
transferable skills with many often going on to successful careers in the media and 
creative industries. BYT forms part of Awen’s wider strategy to engage young people 
in creative industries opportunities. The Creative Industries are one of Wales’, and 
Bridgend’s, fastest growing sectors and Awen featured BYT and its skills programme 
as part of the recent Council led Creative Expo event that focused on employment 
opportunities in the creative arts and cultural sector.. 

 
3.16 This proposal will produce a saving of £15,000. Should the Council disinvest, then 

Awen would need to attract corporate or private sponsorship or increase income via 
fees and charges or other means to sustain the current level of activity and ensure 
access to all is sustained. In the event this  is not deemed to  be achievable there is 
a risk the BYT programme would need to be re-structured, reduced or curtailed. The 
Council would no longer be supporting or involved in Bridgend Youth Theatre. The 
Council is faced with difficult decisions as to which services it can afford to support 
via public subsidy and this may be one area that needs to become self-sustaining.  

 
 

Page 102



 

4. Equality implications (including Socio-economic Duty and Welsh Language) 
 
4.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic 

Duty and the impact on the use of the Welsh Language have been considered in 
the preparation of this report. Initial screening shows that a full equality impact 
assessment will be needed for the proposals set out in this report should they 
proceed following consultation.  

 

5. Well-being of Future Generations implications and connection to Corporate 
Well-being Objectives 

 
5.1 The provision of cultural services including library and broader wellbeing services 

contributes to the wellbeing of local people and communities in the following ways:- 
 

Involvement -  The engagement of residents and utilising their contributions to help 
shape services as well as developing the cultural third sector and 
related participation is a positive feature of the local partnership. This 
has been recognised in the WPLS reports. 

 
Long Term - Bridgend has been progressing its long-term approach to providing 

library and cultural services since the establishment of the 
partnership agreement in 2015.  In line with Welsh Government plans 
there is an opportunity to develop a longer-term cultural strategy for 
Bridgend. 

 
Prevention - The broad range of cultural venues are connecting people to their 

communities, supporting information advice and assistance and 
developing social prescribing opportunities in partnership with 
communities and stakeholders. 

 
Integration -  Through the partnership agreement and service development 

planning there are connections to health, social care, education and 
broader third sector and community development. 

 
Collaboration -  The partnership supports joint planning and development to achieve  

population level outcomes. Awen have proven successful in relations 
with external bodies such as Arts Council, Health Board, Heritage 
Fund and more. 

 
5.2      In regard to the Councils wellbeing objectives the cultural range of services and 

venues contribute to the following objectives: - 
 

A County Borough where we protect our most vulnerable.  

A County Borough with thriving valleys communities. 

A County Borough where we help people meet their potential. 

A County Borough where people feel heard, valued and part of their community. 

A County Borough where we support people to live healthy and happy lives. 

 

 
6. Climate Change Implications  
 

Page 103



 

6.1    There is no impact or link to Bridgend County Borough Council’s climate change 
aspirations as a result of this report. 

 
 

7. Safeguarding and Corporate Parent Implications 
 
7.1 The partnership agreement between the Council and Awen ensures that appropriate 

arrangements are in place to ensure the safety and wellbeing of service users and 
staff. 

 
7.2      The services that Awen provide ensure that our more vulnerable residents and those 

requiring connection to information and assistance can be supported by acting as 
Council Information Points. 

 
7.3      Awen, as the Councils delivery partner of library services, are actively engaged in the 

corporate parenting strategy and steering group. 
 
 
8.  Financial Implications  
 
8.1 When the partnership with Awen was established in 2015 it delivered early 

efficiencies of £625,000.The management fee payment was also not index linked for 
the first three years creating an even greater real terms saving beyond the original 
£625,000.The savings have been managed to date with little service reduction but a 
considerable transfer of risk. The current MTFS requirement for 2024-25 is £360,000 
and the Council needs to determine the specific areas of reductions in its 
requirements.  

 
8.2   Beyond the £625,000 identified above a further efficiency was agreed with Awen of 

£150,000 in 2018-19 and related to a community centre hand back, curtailment of the 
mobile library service, closure of the Ty Ardd reference library and some minor 
alterations to library hours. 

 
8.3 In regard to library hours the Council will need to determine what it can achieve in the 

short term whilst developing a new plan for a “comprehensive and efficient” library 
service. The Council’s aspiration is to retain all venues to be available in some 
capacity, but this will restrict the overall savings that can be made due to other fixed 
costs involved in running buildings. In the budget consultation exercise undertaken 
as part of the MTFS 2024-25 to 2027-28, the public were in principle supportive of 
needing to reduce the level of expenditure on library related services. The reduction 
in hours being proposed in this report would save £60-70,000 in a full year. 

 
8.4  In regard to book renewal fund, the Council can request a reduction of £50,000 in 

expenditure in 2024/25 based on the need to deliver efficiencies in the short term but 
this is unlikely to be sustainable in the medium term and will need review. 

 
8.5  The removal of the books on wheels service would save approximately £65,000 in 

regard to staffing and vehicle costs but will require consultation with service users 
and identification of any mitigation that could be considered. 

 

Page 104



 

8.6  The removal of subsidy in regard to Bridgend Youth Theatre programmes would 
produce a saving of approximately £15,000 but it may not continue in its current form 
and potentially need other investments to sustain it and its regional identity. 

 
8.7  There are other areas of service that have been reviewed within this report that may 

be able to be delivered in future financial years, but not in 2024-25, that could 
contribute to the broader MTFS targets although a more fundamental review of the 
partnership and the Councils affordability and priorities will be needed in the coming 
months. An initial exercise has been commissioned to support this process and 
shaping of the medium to longer term plans and finance position. Awen have 
committed to evaluating the commercial business cases across its portfolio and how 
a restructuring of the partnership could enable greater revenue growth linked to 
longer term management fee stability. 

 
8.8  The Council needs to consider the commitments that have been undertaken to invest 

in Maesteg Town Hall and subsequently the Grand Pavilion and implications 
regarding the expectations of funders as to how those buildings will operate and 
levels of subsidy needed to ensure access.. The funding within the current 
management fee and proposed further reductions may prove challenging. 

 
8.9  Once the Council’s position is confirmed the change notice will request details of any 

costs that Awen will incur in delivering the proposals that will need to be evidenced 
and all efforts made to minimise such costs. 

 
8.10 Due to the consultation timeframe, the full £360,000 budget reduction proposal is 

unlikely to be delivered in full in 2024-25.  The Social Services and Wellbeing 
Directorate will have to identify one-off efficiencies in 2024-25 to mitigate any shortfall 
in the first instance.  

 
9. Recommendations 
 

9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet: 
 

 approve the consultation exercises that will be required to take forward changes to 

the library services as required by the Medium-Term financial strategy and note that 

a further report will be presented to Cabinet to enable the outcome of the exercises 

be taken into account when finalising any proposed changes to library services. 

 
Background documents: None 

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
Meeting of:  

 
CABINET 

 

 
Date of Meeting:  

 
14 MAY 2024 

 

 
Report Title:  

 
PROPOSED DATES FOR MEETINGS OF CABINET, 
CABINET COMMITTEE EQUALITIES AND CABINET 

COMMITTEE CORPORATE PARENTING 
 

 
Report Owner / 
Corporate Director:  

 

 
REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER  

 

Responsible 
Officer:  

RACHEL KEEPINS, DEMOCRATIC SERVICES MANAGER 
 

Policy Framework 
and Procedure 
Rules:  

There is no effect upon the policy framework and procedure 
rules. 

Executive 
Summary:  
 

To seek approval of the programme of meetings for 
Cabinet, Cabinet Committee Equalities and Cabinet 
Committee Corporate Parenting for the municipal year 
2024-2025. 

 

 
1. Purpose of Report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to propose for approval the programme of meeting 

dates for Cabinet, Cabinet Committee Equalities and Cabinet Committee Corporate 
Parenting for the municipal year 2024–2025.   

 
2. Background  
 
2.1 The approval of the programme of meetings of Council, Cabinet and their 

Committees is required in accordance with the Council’s Constitution. 
 

3. Current situation / proposal  
 
3.1 The proposed programme of meeting dates for Cabinet, Cabinet Committee 

Equalities and Cabinet Committee Corporate Parenting for 2024–2025, is set out 
below. It should be noted that the date of the Budget Cabinet meeting could be 
subject to change, depending on the timeline of the Welsh Government Local 
Government Settlement.  

 
 
            Cabinet 
 

18 June 2024 14 January 2025 
23 July 2024 4 February 2025 
24 September 2024 18 February 2025 (Budget) 
22 October 2024 11 March 2025 

Page 107

Agenda Item 9



 

19 November 2024 8 April 2025 
10 December 2024  

 
  

 
            Cabinet Committee Equalities 
 
            17 July 2024 
            6 November 2024 
            19 February 2025 
 
            Cabinet Committee Corporate Parenting 
 
            8 May 2024 
            4 September 2024 
            8 January 2025 
             
3.2      Subject to the programme of meeting dates being approved, the meetings will be 

placed in Members and Officers electronic calendars, in the usual manner. 
 
4. Equality implications (including Socio-economic Duty and Welsh Language) 
 
4.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic 

Duty and the impact on the use of the Welsh Language have been considered in 
the preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales the Council must consider 
the impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies, 
strategies, services and functions.  An initial Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 
screening has identified that there would be no negative impact on those with one 
or more of the protected characteristics, on socio-economic disadvantage or the 
use of the Welsh language. It is therefore not necessary to carry out a full EIA on 
this policy or proposal.             

 

5. Well-being of Future Generations implications and connection to Corporate 
Well-being Objectives 

 
5.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of this 

report. It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable impacts upon 
the achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a result of this report. 

 
 
6. Climate Change Implications  
 
6.1 There are no climate change implications associated with this report.  
 

 
7. Safeguarding and Corporate Parent Implications 
 
7.1 There are no safeguarding implications associated with this report 
 

 
8.  Financial Implications  
 

Page 108



 

8.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report 
 
 
9. Recommendation 

 
9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet approve the programme of meeting dates for 

Cabinet, Cabinet Committee Equalities and Cabinet Committee Corporate 
Parenting, as outlined in paragraph 3.1 of this report. 

 
 
Background documents 
 
None 

Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Cymeradwyaeth Cofnodion
	4 Canlyniad yr Ymgynghoriad ar Amcanion y Cynllun Cydraddoldeb Strategol Drafft 2024 - 2028
	Appendix A - Strategic Equality Plan and Objectives Consultation report
	Appendix B - Strategic Equality Plan and Objectives 2024-2028

	5 Polisi Ffioedd a Thaliadau
	Appendix A Bridgend County Borough Council Fees and Charging Policy 2024
	Appendix B Bridgend County Borough Council Fees and Charging Policy 2024 clean

	6 Adnewyddu Cytundeb Partneriaeth Gwasanaeth Archwilio Mewnol Rhanbarthol
	7 Cylch Gorchwyl y Cyngor Ymgynghorol Sefydlog ar Addysg Grefyddol (CYSAG)/Cyngor Ymgynghorol Sefydlog (Ar Werth a Moeseg Crefydd) (SAC)
	Appendix 1 SACRE SAC TOR v1.0

	8 Newidiadau Arfaethedig Yng Ngofynion y Cyngor Mewn perthynas â Gwasanaethau Diwylliannol
	9 Dyddiadau Arfaethedig ar gyfer cyfarfodydd y Cabinet, Pwyllgor Cydraddoldeb y Cabinet a Rhianta Corfforaethol Pwyllgor y Cabinet

